NEW YORK STATE BAR ASSOCIATION TAX SECTION

REPORT ON SECTIONS 864(c)(8) and 1446(f)

August 10, 2018

CONTENTS

I.	Back	ground	5
II.	Sum	mary of Proposed Recommendations and Requests for Guidance	7
	A.	Nonrecognition Transactions	7
	B.	Acceleration and Duplication of Effectively Connected Gain and Loss	8
	C.	Treatment of Partnership Distributions	8
	D.	Application of the Provisions to Tiered Partnerships	8
	E.	Limitation of Gain/Loss Under Section 864(c)(8)	8
	F.	Partnership Determinations of Fair Market Value	8
	G.	Effect of Distributive Share Provision	9
	H.	Source of Gain Recognized Under Section 864(c)(8)	9
	I.	Interaction with Bilateral Income Tax Treaties	9
	J.	Coordination of the Provisions with the FIRPTA Provisions	9
	K.	Exception from Withholding Where Effectively Connected Gain Is Less Than Threshold Percentage of Total Gain	9
	L.	Secondary Liability of a Partnership to Withhold Under Section 1446(f)(4)	10
	M.	Application of Section 1446(f) Where There Are Insufficient Funds to Withhold	10
	N.	Withholding in Connection with Disguised Sales of Partnership Interests	10
	O.	Withholding in Connection with a Transaction Described in Revenue Ruling 99-6	10
	P.	Withholding on the Disposition of a Publicly Traded Partnership Interest	11
	Q.	Manner for Depositing Withheld Tax and Filing Forms Relating to Withholding	11
	R.	Provision of Information by Partnerships to Partners	11
	S.	Section 1446(f) Definitions	12

III.	Discu	ıssion	12
	A.	Treatment of Non-Recognition Transactions and Transactions that Shift a Foreign Partner's Share of U.S. Trade or Business Assets	12
	B.	Acceleration and Duplication of Effectively Connected Gain and Loss	19
		1. Partial Dispositions of a Partnership Interest	19
		2. Multiple Transfers of a Single Partnership Interest	22
	C.	Treatment of Partnership Distributions	23
	D.	Application of the Provisions to Tiered Partnerships	26
	E.	Limitation of Gain/Loss Under Section 864(c)(8)	27
	F.	Partnership Determinations of Fair Market Value	29
	G.	Effect of the Distributive Share Provision	30
	H.	Source of Gain Recognized Under Section 864(c)(8)	32
	I.	Interaction with Bilateral Income Tax Treaties	37
	J.	Coordination of the Provisions with the FIRPTA Provisions	45
		1. Coordination of Section 864(c)(8) with Section 897(g)	45
		2. Coordination of Section 1446(f) with Section 1445	46
	K.	Exception from Withholding Where Effectively Connected Gain is Less Than Threshold Percentage of Total Gain	47
		1. Level of the Threshold	48
		2. Use of the 25% ECI Exception	48
	L.	Secondary Liability of a Partnership to Withhold Under Section 1446(f)(4)	48
	M.	Application of Section 1446(f) Where There Are Insufficient Funds to Withhold	51
	N.	Withholding in Connection with Disguised Sales of Partnership Interests	52
	O.	Withholding in Connection with a Transaction Described in Revenue Ruling 99-6	53
	P.	Withholding on the Disposition of a Publicly Traded Partnership Interests	54

Q.	Manner for Depositing Withheld Tax and Filing Forms Relating to Withholding	. 55
R.	Provision of Information by Partnerships to Partners	
S.	Section 1446(f) Definitions	. 57

The New York State Bar Association Tax Section (the "*Tax Section*") is submitting this report (the "*Report*") to request guidance under Sections 864(c)(8) and 1446(f) (collectively, the "*Provisions*") of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "*Code*"), which were added to the Code pursuant to P.L. 115-97 (the "*Act*") on December 22, 2017. This report supplements our letter (the "*Prior Letter*")³ to the Internal Revenue Service (the "*Service*") and the Department of the Treasury ("*Treasury*") dated February 2, 2018 requesting immediate guidance with respect to the Provisions in order to allow affected transactions to proceed in a workable manner while the government considers how to address the broader set of issues raised by the Provisions.

I. Background

Section 864(c)(8) provides that gain or loss of a nonresident alien individual or foreign corporation from the sale, exchange or disposition of a directly or indirectly held partnership interest generally is treated as effectively connected with the conduct of a U.S. trade or business (a "USTB") to the extent that such gain or loss does not exceed the gain or loss such person would have recognized as effectively connected gain or loss had the partnership sold all of its assets at fair market value as of the date of the transfer. Section 1446(f) provides that a transferee of such a partnership interest generally must withhold tax equal to 10% of the amount realized upon the disposition of a partnership interest if any gain on the transfer of such interest would be treated as effectively connected with the conduct of a USTB under Section 864(c)(8).

The enactment of Section 864(c)(8) was intended to override the result in *Grecian Magnesite Mining Co. v. Commissioner*, 149 T.C. No. 3 (July 13, 2017), appeal docketed, No. 17-1268 (D.C. Cir. December 18, 2017) ("*GMM*"). In *GMM*, the Tax Court held that gain recognized on a sale or exchange by a foreign person of an interest in a partnership that is engaged in a USTB generally does not constitute income that is effectively connected with a USTB ("*ECI*"). In *GMM*, the court rejected the position of the Service in Rev. Rul. 91-32, 1991-1 C.B. 107, that gain or loss recognized by a foreign person upon its disposition of a partnership interest generally constitutes ECI or effectively connected loss ("*ECL*") to the extent of the foreign person's distributive share of unrealized gain or loss of the partnership attributable to effectively connected property of the partnership.

The principal drafters of this Report were Robert Cassanos and Michael Shulman. Substantial assistance was provided by Ze'ev Deutsch and Adam Sternberg. Helpful comments were received from Stanley A. Barsky, Kimberly S. Blanchard, Peter H. Blessing, Andrew H. Braiterman, Peter J. Connors, Charles W. Cope, Timothy J. Devetski, Phillip J. Gall, Rafael Kariyev, Michael Karlin, Abraham Leitner, Michael Miller, Erika W. Nijenhuis, Harsha Reddy, Tyler Robbins, David R. Sicular, Michael L. Schler, David H. Schnabel, Eric B. Sloan, Karen G. Sowell, Chaim Stern, and Gordon E. Warnke. This letter reflects solely the views of the Tax Section of the New York State Bar Association ("NYSBA") and not those of the NYSBA Executive Committee or the House of Delegates.

All Section references herein are to the Code unless otherwise indicated.

See N.Y. St. Ba. Ass'n, Tax Sec., Request for Immediate Guidance under Sections 864(c)(8) and 1446(f) (Feb. 2, 2018).

Section 864(c)(8) differs in certain important respects from the holding in Rev. Rul. 91-32 and is ambiguous in many respects. Moreover, Rev. Rul. 91-32 itself raised numerous interpretative questions, resulting in substantial commentary from practitioners, the issuance of a prior report by the Tax Section⁴ and the initiation of a project at the Treasury and the Service regarding the implementation of the ruling.⁵ Most of these questions continue to apply to the application of Section 864(c)(8). In addition to overriding the result in *GMM* in Section 864(c)(8), Section 1446(f) imposes a new withholding regime on transfers of partnership interests.

On January 2, 2018, Treasury and the Service issued Notice 2018-8, 2018-7 I.R.B. 352 (Jan. 2, 2018), which suspended all withholding in connection with the sale or other disposition of publicly traded partnership ("*PTP*") interests under Section 1446(f) until regulations or other guidance under such section are issued. Notice 2018-8 also requested comments on whether a temporary suspension of Section 1446(f) withholding for partnership interests other than PTP interests is needed and what additional guidance may be needed to assist taxpayers in applying the Provisions.

In response to requests for immediate guidance and temporary relief from certain aspects of the Provisions (including the Prior Letter), Treasury and the Service issued Notice 2018-29, 2018-16 I.R.B. 495 (Apr. 2, 2018) (the "*Notice*"). The Notice provided, among other things that:

- until regulations are issued, transferees required to withhold under Section 1446(f)(1) must use the rules in Section 1445 and the regulations thereunder for purposes of reporting and paying over the tax;
- Treasury and the Service intend to issue regulations providing that:
 - o if the transferee receives a certification issued by the transferor stating that the transfer of its partnership interest will not result in realized gain, a transferee may generally rely on the certification and be relieved from liability for withholding under Section 1446(f);
 - o no withholding is required under Section 1446(f)(1) upon the transfer of a partnership interest if the transferee receives from the transferor a certification that for the transferor's immediately prior taxable year and the two taxable years that precede it (i) the transferor was a partner in the partnership for the entirety of each of those years, and (ii) the transferor's allocable share of ECI for each of those taxable years was less than 25% of the transferor's total distributive share of income for that year;

_

See N.Y. St. Ba. Ass'n, Tax Sec., Report on Guidance Implementing Revenue Ruling 91-32 (Jan. 21, 2014).

⁵ See Joint Treasury, IRS 2013-2014 Priority Guidance Plan.

- o no withholding is required under Section 1446(f)(1) upon the transfer of a partnership interest if the transferee is provided a certification certifying that if the partnership had sold all of its assets at their fair market value, the amount of gain that would have been ECI would be less than 25% of the total gain;
- o no withholding is required under Section 1446(f)(1) upon the transfer of a partnership interest if the transferee receives from the transferor a notice that satisfies the requirements of Treas. Reg. § 1.1445-2(d)(2);
- a transferee generally may rely upon a certification in determining the amount of liabilities of the partnership that are included in the amount realized on a transfer for purposes of Section 1446(f); and
- o if a partnership makes a distribution to a partner, the partnership generally may rely on its books and records, or on a certification received from the distributee partner, to determine whether the distribution exceeds the partner's basis in its partnership interest.

The Notice also requested comments on several issues, including the following:

- rules for determining the amount realized, including when the amount of required withholding may exceed the proceeds of a sale of a partnership interest;
- procedures for reducing the amount required to be withheld, such as limiting the withholding to the tax on the gain recognized (if determinable);
- rules implementing the requirement for a partnership to withhold under Section 1446(f)(4) on distributions to a transferee that fails to withhold under Section 1446(f)(1); and
- rules that should apply under Sections 864(c)(8), 897, 1445, and 1446(f) when a partner disposes of an interest in a partnership that holds both U.S. real property interests ("*USRPIs*") and other property used in the conduct of a USTB.

II. Summary of Proposed Recommendations and Requests for Guidance

A. Nonrecognition Transactions

• Regulations should confirm the Provisions do not override normal nonrecognition provisions except in cases in which either (a) a similar transaction engaged in by a foreign partner with a U.S. branch would not be entitled to nonrecognition or (b) in cases where there is no similar or analogous branch transaction (for example, in certain Section 731 transactions) and there is substantial base erosion. In the case of situations described in clause (b) of the preceding sentence, consideration should be given to conditioning the override of normal nonrecognition principles on whether the transaction is deemed abusive in nature taking into account

the particular facts and circumstances, rather than applying a mechanical override rule.

B. Acceleration and Duplication of Effectively Connected Gain and Loss

- Regulations should adopt a "proportionality" rule similar to that set forth in Rev. Rul. 91-32 to minimize the likelihood of accelerating and double counting of ECI and ECL.
- Alternatively, regulations should prevent the double-counting of the same unrealized gains and losses in assets used in a USTB in multiple transfers by the same foreign person.

C. Treatment of Partnership Distributions

- Regulations should confirm that distributions within basis are not subject to withholding at all and that absent disguised sale treatment, withholding applies only to the amount of money distributed (if any) which exceeds basis.
- If desired, consideration could be given to imposing withholding on the entire amount of distributions in excess of basis, but allowing partnerships to make an election to withhold on only the effectively connected portion of the amount of a distribution in excess of basis, but at the maximum applicable statutory rate rather than at a 10% rate.

D. Application of the Provisions to Tiered Partnerships

• Regulations should confirm that sales of interests in upper-tier partnerships are subject to the Provisions even where the only assets held by such upper-tier partnership are interests in lower-tier partnerships holding USTB assets.

E. <u>Limitation of Gain/Loss Under Section 864(c)(8)</u>

• Regulations should clarify that a foreign partner first must determine how much gain or loss it recognizes in connection with a partnership interest sale (including by virtue of Section 751(a)), and then apply Section 864(c)(8) to determine whether any of such gain or loss should be recharacterized as ECI or ECL.

F. Partnership Determinations of Fair Market Value

• In applying the hypothetical allocation regime of Section 864(c)(8), regulations should require the partnership to assign an aggregate value to its assets such that, if the partnership were to sell all of its assets for that aggregate value, it would result in the partnership (after payment of its

liabilities) distributing an amount in respect of the transferred interest that is equal to the amount paid to the foreign partner for such interest.

G. Effect of Distributive Share Provision

• Regulations should confirm that the hypothetical allocation regime of Section 864(c)(8) should take into account any special allocations of the partnership.

H. Source of Gain Recognized Under Section 864(c)(8)

- Regulations should confirm that (a) Section 864(c)(8) has no bearing or impact on source; and (b) the source of gain or loss derived from the sale of a partnership interest subject to Section 864(c)(8) has no bearing or impact on whether it is ECI or ECL.
- To the extent it is desired to promulgate a special source rule for partnership interest sales, consideration should be given to whether a residence-based source rule would better mitigate double taxation than an activity-based rule.

I. Interaction with Bilateral Income Tax Treaties

• Regulations should confirm the approach taken in Situation 3 of Rev. Rul. 91-32, but adding or using a rationale not inconsistent with the decision in *GMM*. In addition, consideration could be given to amending the Code and/or our treaties to confirm this result.

J. Coordination of the Provisions with the FIRPTA Provisions

- Regulations should provide that a foreign partner's reduction of ECI or ECL recognized under Section 864(c)(8) for gain or loss recognized under FIRPTA may result in the creation of ECI or ECL, even where the foreign partner recognizes no overall gain or loss, respectively, in connection with the disposition.
- Regulations should provide that, in determining whether either of the 25% Exceptions (as defined below) is applicable, income and gains with respect to USRPIs should be ignored.

K. <u>Exception from Withholding Where Effectively Connected Gain Is Less Than</u> Threshold Percentage of Total Gain

• While it is not clear that the 25% threshold for the 25% Exceptions contained in the Notice should be reduced, we recommend that any reduction of such threshold be to a level no lower than 10%.

• With respect to the limitation on using the 25% ECI Exception (as defined below) where the foreign partner has been allocated no income during the three years preceding the sale, regulations should clarify that this restriction should apply only where during each of the three preceding taxable years the transferor was allocated no income.

L. Secondary Liability of a Partnership to Withhold Under Section 1446(f)(4)

- Regulations should provide that a partnership that receives proper certification of compliance with Section 1446(f) is exempt from secondary withholding.
- Regulations should provide that secondary withholding does not apply to publicly traded partnerships.
- In the case of successive transfers of a single partnership interest, regulations should not impose secondary withholding on distributions to a purchaser with respect to an unrelated transferee's failure to withhold on a prior transfer of the same interest, except possibly in narrowly tailored abusive cases.

M. Application of Section 1446(f) Where There Are Insufficient Funds to Withhold

• Regulations should adopt the approach taken in the Notice, pursuant to which the amount of withholding under Section 1446(f) is limited to the entire amount realized (determined without regard to the decrease in the transferor partner's share of partnership liabilities).

N. Withholding in Connection with Disguised Sales of Partnership Interests

- In the case of a disguised sale of a partnership interest, regulations should provide that:
 - o the partnership (rather than the contributing partner) is responsible for withholding amounts required to be withheld under Section 1446(f), and
 - o the "transferee" partner should not be subject to secondary withholding for an under-withholding in connection with the transfer.

O. Withholding in Connection with a Transaction Described in Revenue Ruling 99-6

• Regulations under Section 1446(f) should provide that where a person acquires interests in an existing partnership from one or more partners and the partnership becomes a disregarded entity as a result of such acquisition, the acquirer is treated as acquiring partnership interests for

purposes of Section 1446(f), and thus is required to withhold under Section 1446(f) if an exemption from withholding is not available.

P. Withholding on the Disposition of a Publicly Traded Partnership Interest

- Regulations should provide that the broker through which publicly traded partnership interests are transferred should be responsible for withholding and reporting under Section 1446(f).
- Any broker withholding and reporting with respect to publicly traded partnership interests should be required no earlier than the date that is one year following the date on which regulations under Section 1446(f) addressing the manner in which tax is to be withheld in connection with the transfer of PTP units are finalized.

Q. Manner for Depositing Withheld Tax and Filing Forms Relating to Withholding

- Regulations should memorialize the interim approach set forth in the Notice for depositing tax withheld under Section 1446(f) and filing of forms relating to such withholding (*i.e.*, to use the procedures set forth under Section 1445 and the regulations thereunder), subject to certain modifications (including providing new forms specific to Section 1446(f) withholding).
- Regulations should specifically permit, and a new form comparable to Form 8288-B should be released to facilitate, the issuance of withholding certificates enabling a lower amount of withholding under Section 1446(f).

R. Provision of Information by Partnerships to Partners

- Regulations should provide that upon request by a foreign selling partner, a partnership must provide (i) the amount of liabilities attributable under Section 752 to the transferred interest, (ii) the amount of ECI or ECL that the transferor would have recognized with respect to the transferred interest had all of the partnership's assets been sold for their fair market value, and (iii) any other information reasonably needed by such partner in order to calculate the amount of ECI or ECL recognized by virtue of the application of Section 864(c)(8).
- With respect to any calculations required to be made under Section 864(c)(8) or Section 1446(f) (including (i) whether the 25% threshold is exceeded, (ii) the amount of ECI or ECL attributable to the transferor, and (iii) the amount of liabilities attributable to the transferred interest), regulations should provide that a partnership may elect to perform such calculations as of the last day of its most recent taxable year, but only where the partnership reasonably determines that its use of such end of the

year convention will not significantly affect any calculation to be made under the Provisions.

S. Section 1446(f) Definitions

• Regulations should properly define terms such as "transferor," "transferee" and "nonforeign person" for purposes of Section 1446(f), rather than defining such terms by cross-reference to Section 1445.

III. Discussion

A. <u>Treatment of Non-Recognition Transactions and Transactions that Shift a Foreign</u> Partner's Share of U.S. Trade or Business Assets

In the Prior Letter we considered whether Section 864(c)(8) applies to transactions eligible for nonrecognition treatment. We concluded that:

- 1. Although not entirely clear, Section 864(c)(8) did not by its terms purport to override any nonrecognition provisions. Rather, it merely characterized any gain or loss arising from a transaction within its scope as ECI or ECL to the extent therein provided. In other words, it is best read as a characterization provision, not a recognition provision.
- 2. While there is no explicit authority in Section 864(c)(8) to override nonrecognition provisions, the grant of regulatory authority contained therein is quite broad and explicitly references a number of nonrecognition provisions (although none we think relevant, for reasons set forth in the Prior Letter and below). From this we concluded that the government has the implicit authority to override nonrecognition provisions involving sales, exchanges or other dispositions of partnership interests by foreign persons and that that authority was not limited to the enumerated nonrecognition provisions set forth in the statute.⁶

Although the Notice did not address the application of Section 864(c)(8) to nonrecognition transactions, it did permit transferors to avoid withholding on a temporary basis by certifying that their transactions qualify for nonrecognition treatment under the Code. While the withholding tax relief provided in the Notice is temporary, it is consistent with the conclusions above, namely that the default rule should be to respect the nonrecognition provisions of the Code except to the extent provided in future guidance.

We believe that regardless of whether the statute is read to exclude or to include transactions made pursuant to nonrecognition provisions, the ultimate result should be the same

12

See also Am. BA. ASS'N TAX SEC., Comments on the Need for Guidance Under Sections 864(c)(8) and 1446(f) at 6 (Mar. 19, 2018) (the "ABA Report").

Notice, Section 6.05.

in either case – the result should not depend on the default rule, but on what better reflects sound tax policy.

The Prior Letter identified a potential approach to determining when a nonrecognition provision should be overridden by Section 864(c)(8), which we called the "Branch Consistency Approach" ("BCA"). We believe the overriding principle of Section 864(c)(8) is aligning more closely the taxation of partnership interest transfers and asset transfers. The BCA explicitly seeks to align the tax treatment of asset and interest transfers because it looks in the first instance to whether the transaction in question would have been accorded nonrecognition treatment had the partnership assets been held directly by the foreign person. 8 For that reason, we think the BCA provides the best framework for determining when nonrecognition provisions should be overridden, and thus believe it should be adopted. The BCA would not override nonrecognition treatment except in cases where either (i) nonrecognition treatment is already overridden for branch transfers or (ii) there is no closely analogous branch transaction (as in certain Subchapter K transactions) and there is a suitable avoidance potential by reason of the manner in which the transaction was structured. To the extent the BCA would not override nonrecognition provisions, as a general rule this is not because this approach is inherently pro- (or anti-) taxpayer, but rather because under the Code, the same treatment applies for branch transactions generally. Consequently, as discussed in the Prior Letter, under the BCA Section 864(c)(8) would not override nonrecognition treatment under Sections 351 and 721, and it would also exempt, for example, Section 332 liquidations of foreign partners into their parent entities and foreign-to-foreign or inbound mergers of foreign partners to the same extent those transactions would have been exempt had they been undertaken by a foreign person that was conducting a USTB directly through a branch.⁹

The balance of this section deals with the application of the BCA in cases where there is no close analogy to a branch transaction, but a nonrecognition provision would otherwise be applicable. The Prior Letter contained the following example:

Section 731(a) Distributions. Foreign partner ("FP") and a U.S. person ("USP") hold interests in PRS. PRS has a USTB and also holds non-USTB assets. In a transaction ordinarily qualifying as a nonrecognition transaction, PRS distributes the non-USTB assets to FP in complete redemption of its interest in

0

Where assets are held by a partnership and the partnership engages in the transaction in question, this would be an "asset" transaction, not an "interest" transaction, from the perspective of applying the BCA.

The other approach considered in the Prior Letter, the Transferor Gain Approach ("TGA"), would not seek to align the taxation of asset and interest transfers more closely, but rather would look to whether the same foreign person would remain liable for the same amount of tax after the nonrecognition transaction as before the transaction should the property received in the transaction subsequently be disposed of. In contrast to the BCA, this approach, if carried to its logical conclusion, would override virtually all nonrecognition provisions, with the possible exception of certain Section 721 and Section 731 transactions. The Committee did not endorse the TGA principally because it leads to disparate results from the results that would have obtained had the foreign person conducted the USTB directly. The Committee felt that such a result was inconsistent with the overall intention of Section 864(c)(8), which was to align more closely the tax treatment of these two types of transactions, not to drive them further apart.

PRS. In such a case, while USP remains fully subject to tax, FP has gone from partially subject to U.S. tax (because it indirectly held a share of the USTB through PRS) to not being subject to U.S. tax because it no longer holds any interest in PRS. In such case, under either approach [that is, under either the BCA or TGA], nonrecognition treatment may not be appropriate. Nevertheless, depending on the factual circumstances (e.g., where the parties have a strong business purpose for causing FP to be redeemed for non-USTB assets), there may be situations where nonrecognition may still be appropriate. We believe further study is warranted to determine the circumstances in which it is necessary to override the nonrecognition rule in Section 731, as we believe the determination may not be susceptible to a hard and fast rule.

By way of background, one reason nonrecognition treatment may not be appropriate in the facts of the example is because even though all of the USTB assets remain fully subject to tax, FP has essentially "swapped" its share of the USTB assets for a share of non-USTB assets on which it will not pay tax. For example, if all of the assets of PRS consisted of two different USTBs, each with zero basis, and FP was redeemed out for the assets of one USTB, it would be "escaping" gain on the assets of the USTB left behind, but would be fully subject to tax on the USTB assets it has acquired, with the result that there should not be any base erosion (assuming no inside-outside basis differential). In this case, since there would appear to be no base erosion potential, there would be no reason to override nonrecognition. On the other hand, where PRS's assets consist of both USTB assets and non-USTB assets, and such assets are not being divided proportionately, then there is at least potential for base erosion and a different question is presented. This potential is independent of the respective bases of the USTB assets and the non-USTB assets. To illustrate the principle more clearly, assume that PRS's basis in its assets is zero. In the base case - where PRS disposes of all of its assets in a taxable transaction - USP would pay tax on all of its gain, while FP would pay tax only on its ECI. After the Section 731 distribution however, while USP remains fully subject to tax in the event PRS disposes of the remaining assets, FP would not be subject to tax at all if it disposed of the assets it received in the distribution. Thus, even though a disposition of the USTB remains fully subject to tax, there is less tax paid in the aggregate because FP has gone from partly taxable to wholly nontaxable and USP cannot pay tax on more than 100% of its gain. It is the shifting of the non-USTB assets, not the USTB assets, that creates the potential base erosion. However, if USP was also a foreign person and the facts were otherwise identical (including as to basis), there would be no base erosion potential and accordingly, no reason to override nonrecognition, because the entire built-in gain of the USTB would generally remain fully subject to tax. 10

Imposing tax in this fact pattern where base erosion potential arises is somewhat "result driven," but not necessarily inappropriately so. When USP is a taxable domestic person, there is or may be a permanent removal of taxable assets from the U.S. tax base. In such a case, overriding nonrecognition treatment could be said to be the "last clear chance" to keep the U.S.

The same type of base erosion could result where a partnership redeems a U.S. tax-exempt partner in exchange for assets that do not generate unrelated business taxable income ("*UBTT*") and the partnership retains gain assets that do generate UBTI.

tax base from being eroded. When USP is not a U.S. person, absent other indicia of abuse, there may be no base erosion potential merely on account of the character of the assets being distributed on the facts presented, and therefore little if any reason to override normal nonrecognition rules.

In that regard, it should be noted that the facts of the example given in our Prior Letter represent a very extreme (and conceptually simple) fact pattern. Consider the following variations on the example:

- 1. PRS might have multiple partners, some of which might be partnerships, such as funds that have both U.S. and foreign partners. If nonrecognition is overridden in this case, presumably such an override would be done on a "look through" basis. For example, if FP is a Cayman partnership all of whose partners are U.S. persons, presumably Section 864(c)(8) does not apply, and there is nothing to override. But if some of the partners are U.S. and some are foreign, do the U.S. partners get taken into account, and if so, how? Conversely, if USP is a Delaware partnership with foreign partners, is the increased interest of those foreign partners to be taken into account in analyzing whether there is, in fact, base erosion? Presumably, this "look through" rule goes up indefinitely until one reaches an individual, non-grantor trust or taxable corporation. That might require FP and USP to understand each other's ownership structure to a very exact degree in order to determine whether the interest in the USTB held by foreign indirect partners is actually increased or decreased.
- 2. Now assume that PRS conducts two businesses, A and B, both of which have USTBs of different sizes (relative to the overall size of the business). If FP is redeemed out for business A, its interest in the USTB conducted by business B ("BUSTB") has been reduced, but its interest in the USTB conduct by business A ("AUSTB") has increased. If nonrecognition is overridden in this case, is A simply taxed on the gross decrease in its share of the gain inherent in BUSTB, or on the delta, if any, between its share of the unrealized gain in AUSTB and that in BUSTB?¹¹ If the latter, how would that be computed? What responsibilities would PRS have, if any, to compute the value of the relative components of each business?
- 3. There may be fact patterns where the distribution is in the nature of a rescission, although not technically qualifying as such. For example, suppose FP and USP both contribute IP to PRS to exploit the IP, but if for any reason PRS is liquidated or one partner redeemed, the redeemed partner gets back its contributed IP. In

implement in cases involving the fact pattern in the text or variations thereof.

11

In the case discussed above, where the assets of PRS consist solely of two different USTBs, we noted that there did not seem to be a principled basis to override nonrecognition under either the BCA or the TGA approach merely because FP had effectively "swapped" its interest in AUSTB for an interest in BUSTB, where the net result was to keep the amount of FP's built-in ECI or ECL constant. Assuming this is correct, then it points strongly if not inevitably to a "netting" approach which would be complex to

such a case, does it matter if each partner is getting back the property it contributed, and if so, whether that was hard-wired into the partnership agreement from inception?

We think these varying fact patterns, which are merely illustrative, should be borne in mind when trying to craft a rule dealing with potential overrides of Section 731 nonrecognition. The Prior Letter's example is intended to illustrate a concern, but in the real world the facts (in many cases) are likely to be much messier than those in that example.

With that in mind, focusing on the fact pattern in which the assets of a partnership containing USTB and non-USTB assets are divided asymmetrically between foreign and domestic partners, it is not clear that overriding Section 731 mechanically in all cases is appropriate. The discussion that follows is intended to outline some of the considerations that may be relevant in analyzing this issue. Assume for purposes of this discussion that the variations of the divisive transaction we are considering are motivated by a bona fide business purpose, for example, a desire on the part of the partners of PRS to divide the economic benefits and burdens of PRS's assets in a manner different from the current division. In other words, the "division" is not intended as a precursor to a sale of the property distributed or a down-the-road "recombination" of PRS's assets through a joint sale to a third party. Assume further that the value of the USTB and non-USTB assets is equal, and that FP and USP are currently equal partners with a "straight up and down" allocation of all items of income gain or loss.

There are a number of ways that division or re-division could be accomplished. One way to effect a division of the business would be to redeem out one of the partners for its "desired" business. This is essentially the fact pattern presented in the Prior Letter: FP and USP desire to go their separate ways, and that is accomplished by redeeming FP for non-USTB assets. If anything, it would not be surprising if the non-USTB assets in the case of a split up would go to the non-U.S. partner. The partners have a desire to part ways and there is nothing necessarily untoward about the fact that, for example, the assets located in a particular jurisdiction go to the partner resident in such jurisdiction. While this may have a base erosion result, it is not clear from the facts presented that it had a base erosion motive. ¹²

On the other hand, the same result could also be achieved under current law by redeeming USP's interest in exchange for the USTB assets, an equally logical and straightforward approach. So long as there is at least one other partner left in PRS besides FP after the redemption, this transaction is not a sale, exchange or other disposition of FP's interest in PRS, and therefore is not subject to Section 864(c)(8), even though the economic results may be similar (if not identical) to those obtained in the case of a redemption of FP's interest in PRS. In this fact pattern, because Section 864(c)(8) has no application, the scope of the

16

For example, PRS may have contingent liabilities associated with the USTB, and one purpose for the divisive transaction may be to effect the parties' intention that responsibility for those liabilities remain with PRS and USP. Absent some non-tax "friction" like this, presumably the transaction could have been structured as described in the next paragraph (*i.e.*, as a redemption of USP for USTB assets).

Again, the form chosen may not be tax-motivated – the contingent liabilities could be associated with the non-USTB business, and the form chosen more closely aligns those liabilities with the proper parties.

nonrecognition override rule is irrelevant since there is no relevant nonrecognition provision to override from FP's perspective. ¹⁴

We note that in many cases FP and USP may be able to achieve an economic outcome somewhat similar (although perhaps not identical) to that in the examples above without any distribution of assets in a case in which there was a reallocation of partnership items of income, gain, or loss. This could arise in a variety of fact patterns, ranging from cases where the shift was pre-negotiated (for example, FP's share of the profits of the USTB could increase or decrease based on hitting certain targeted thresholds), as the result of "ordinary course" reallocation of profits, or as (in the more extreme variants) a permanent but not pre-negotiated shift of the profits of the partnership. Assuming that the allocations chosen by FP and USP would not cause the arrangement to be recharacterized under general principles (for example as a deemed distribution of partnership assets), a reallocation of partnership items of income, gain, or loss (other than possibly a capital shift for services), whether arising from a pre-negotiated shift or from a mid-stream reallocation, should not ordinarily be viewed as a sale, exchange, or other disposition of partnership interests. To the extent this is correct, it should not give rise to a deemed sale or exchange of such interests. The flexible nature of partnership arrangements permits the partners to vary their economic deal in myriad ways without triggering dispositions or deemed dispositions of partnership interests.¹³ As a result, such a shift of the economic sharing should not result in a sale, exchange, or other disposition of a partnership interest to which Section 864(c)(8) could apply. 15

Regardless of motive, a similar issue could arise where a partnership makes a non-liquidating, in kind distribution of non-USTB assets to a continuing foreign partner.

- We think changing this result would require a statutory change. While beyond the scope of this Report, any such change would appear to require FP to recognize and pay tax on a transaction in which FP does not appear to have a realization event, which we think may be challenging. Presumably, such a change would require an approach similar to that of Section 751(b).
- 15 Not only is this the correct result technically, we believe it is also consistent with the fundamental policy of Section 864(c)(8), which is to align more closely the taxation of partnership interest and asset transfers. Assume for the moment that after the reallocation, USP and FP decide to exit their investments by causing PRS to sell all of its assets. To the extent the reallocation was respected under Section 704(b), the reallocation could presumably have the effect of shifting the amount of ECI gain allocated to FP on exit. Since the purpose of Section 864(c)(8) is to harmonize the result in the asset sale case with that in the interest sale case, presumably the same result should occur if instead FP were to sell its interest in PRS, at least assuming, as recommended in Part G below, that the "flush" language regarding nonseparately stated items in the calculation of the Cap (as defined below) is not interpreted in such a way as to create a discontinuity between interest and asset transfers. In that regard, we note that such adjustments to partnership allocations will often be accompanied by so-called "book ups" which require application of Section 704(c) principles to the built-in gains and built-in losses existing on the adjustment date. Under current law, however, such "book ups" are not required - and in some cases may arguably not even be permitted – in the case of allocation adjustments among existing partners (i.e., where new partners are not admitted and there are no contributions or distributions by or to the existing partners). Proposed regulations would, however, address the issue of book ups in certain partnership recapitalizations. See Prop. Reg. § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f)(5)(v). These regulations should mitigate any concerns that such adjustments could result in an "end run" around the principles outlined above, since they should align more closely the results arising from such transactions and Section 721 transactions.

To summarize thus far, there are a number of ways that partners may choose to divide or re-divide their economic arrangements, some of which may effect something akin to a split-up or demerger. Most of these do not involve potential for base erosion, as indicated above, but some do. In the cases that do there are a variety of ways such transactions might be effected. Of the three identified here, two do not appear in most cases to trigger Section 864(c)(8). The third way – the one set forth in the example in the Prior Letter quoted above – has base eroding potential and also potentially implicates the statute, and so could result in an override of Section 731 in appropriate cases.

Given that the transaction in question may not have a base erosion motive, we would suggest that consideration be given to basing the override of normal nonrecognition provisions in this type of case on an anti-abuse approach which looks at taxpayer motivations and weighs them against the tax result obtained. ¹⁶ In effect, this exercise would not be dissimilar to that utilized in Section 355 transactions where the device potential of a spin off transaction is weighed against the business purpose and other relevant aspects of the transaction. ¹⁷ In this context, one might look at similar factors (including, for example, whether the assets distributed are historic assets or were acquired for the purpose of making the distribution, and whether the distributed assets were sold soon after the distribution) to determine whether it is more appropriate on balance to override generally-applicable nonrecognition principles. If desired, consideration could be given to the relief of PRS's liability as withholding agent. Under the Notice, it appears that PRS does not need to withhold as long as it believes the distribution is entitled to nonrecognition treatment.¹⁸ However, in a case like this it may be appropriate to condition relief from withholding on a certain level of care on the part of PRS. This could give PRS an incentive to "police" the transaction and make an independent assessment of the factors involved. While not entirely satisfactory, we think this approach may provide a reasonable framework in this case.

In looking at the tax results obtained, a number of factors could be considered, including possible basis shifts within the partnership as the result of the distribution. Note that, for the reasons set forth above, it may in many cases not be possible to readily determine whether the result of any such transaction actually erodes the tax base to any meaningful extent.

See Section 355(a)(1)(B); Treas. Reg. § 1.355-2(d). Note, however, that in a Section 355 transaction, the tax base is preserved in the sense that a subsequent asset sale by the distributing or controlled corporation would normally be subject to full tax; however, because such taxable asset sales rarely occur, this difference may be more theoretical than it appears, especially since a foreign holder of either corporation can simply dispose of its stock in most cases without further U.S. tax (other than any tax imposed under FIRPTA), assuming neither corporation is a U.S. real property holding corporation ("USRPHC").

Notice, Section 6.05 ("When a partnership is a transferee by reason of making a distribution in which no gain is recognized, the transferee partnership is not required to withhold and the transferor is not required to provide a notice to the transferee partnership").

B. <u>Acceleration and Duplication of Effectively Connected Gain and Loss</u>

1. Partial Dispositions of a Partnership Interest

The basic characterization rule of Rev. Rul. 91-32 is that the amount of a foreign partner's gain or loss treated as effectively connected upon the partner's disposition of its partnership interest is proportional to the amount of the partner's distributive share of gain or loss that would be treated as effectively connected upon a hypothetical liquidation of the partnership. In a partnership where all tax allocations are pro rata, and assuming the partnership has no USRPIs, the foreign partner would pay U.S. federal income tax only on the portion of its gain attributable to the unrealized gain in the partnership's USTB. Assuming the objective of Rev. Rul. 91-32 (and Section 864(c)(8)) is to align the taxation of partnership asset and partnership interest transfers more closely, this would appear to be the correct approach from a policy perspective.

By contrast, the basic characterization rule of Section 864(c)(8) is that all of the foreign partner's gain or loss is treated as ECI or ECL, subject to a cap (the "Cap"). Section 864(c)(8)(A) provides: "gain or loss on the sale or exchange of all (or any portion of) such interest shall be treated as effectively connected with the conduct of such trade or business to the extent such gain or loss does not exceed the amount determined under subparagraph (B)." The Cap is found in Section 864(c)(8)(B), which provides:

The amount determined under this subparagraph with respect to any partnership interest sold or exchanged—

- (i) in the case of any gain on the sale or exchange of the partnership interest, is—
- (I) the portion of the partner's distributive share of the amount of gain which would have been effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business within the United States if the partnership had sold all of its assets at their fair market value as of the date of the sale or exchange of such interest, or
- (II) zero if no gain on such deemed sale would have been so effectively connected.

(The Code provides a parallel formula for determining the Cap on ECL a foreign partner is required to recognize.)¹⁹ Thus, Section 864(c)(8) generally adopts the characterization rule of Rev. Rul. 91-32, but without the proportionality concept embedded in Rev. Rul. 91-32.

The Code's approach produces the same results as Rev. Rul. 91-32 in cases where the foreign partner disposes of its entire partnership interest.

_

¹⁹ Section 864(c)(8)(B)(ii).

Example 1.²⁰ FP holds a 50% interest in PRS, with a \$0 basis. All of PRS's items are shared on a pro rata basis. PRS has unrealized gain of \$200 in its assets: \$100 in a USTB which has no USRPIs, and \$100 in assets unrelated to the USTB, in each case with a basis of \$0. If FP sells its interest for \$100, FP will realize gain of \$100. Under the rule of Rev. Rul. 91-32, because 50% of FP's distributive share of PRS's gain upon a hypothetical liquidation of its assets would be considered ECI, 50% of FP's gain on the disposition of its interest in PRS would be considered ECI. Because FP realized a gain of \$100, \$50 of such gain would be considered ECI. Under Section 864(c)(8)(A), all of FP's gain (\$100) is considered ECI, subject to the Cap. The Cap is the amount of FP's distributive share of ECI upon a hypothetical liquidation of PRS, which is \$50. Thus, only \$50 of the gain is considered ECI – the same result reached by Rev. Rul. 91-32.

The Code's approach appears to arrive at a different result, however, in cases where the foreign partner disposes of only a portion of its partnership interest.

Example 2. The facts are the same as in Example 1, except that FP sells only half of its interest for \$50. FP realizes \$50 of gain on the sale. Under Rev. Rul. 91-32, because 50% of FP's distributive share of PRS's gain upon a hypothetical liquidation of its assets would be considered ECI, 50% of FP's gain is treated as ECI, and FP thus recognizes \$25 of ECI. Under Section 864(c)(8)(A), however, all of FP's gain (\$50) is considered ECI, subject to the Cap. The Cap is the amount of FP's distributive share of ECI upon a hypothetical liquidation, which, as discussed above, is \$50. Thus, all \$50 of the gain FP realizes is apparently considered ECI. In effect, in the case of a partial sale, under this interpretation, FP is required to recognize the same amount of ECI as if it had sold its entire interest. Similarly, if FP sells a portion of its interest at a loss, FP is able to recognize the entire ECL associated with its PRS interest. It is theoretically possible that this approach reflected a Congressional intention that recognition of both ECI and ECL should be accelerated in the case of partial transfers. As a policy matter, however, there does not appear to be a good reason to do either, which leads to the conclusion that the outcome may be the result of inartful drafting rather than intention.

However, this is not the entire story. More serious problems arise where a foreign partner disposes of the remainder of its interest in a subsequent transaction.

Example 3. In the previous example, assume that after disposing of half of its interest, FP then disposes of the other half of its interest in PRS for \$50. Again, FP realizes \$50 of gain on the sale. Under the approach taken in Rev. Rul. 91-32, because 50% of FP's distributive share of PRS's gain upon a hypothetical liquidation of its assets would be considered ECI, 50% of FP's gain is again treated as ECI, and FP recognizes \$25 of ECI. Under Rev. Rul. 91-32, then, FP realizes in the aggregate a total of \$50 of ECI gain, exactly equal to FP's share of the total amount of unrealized gain in PRS's USTB assets. By contrast, under Section 864(c)(8)(A), all of FP's gain (\$50) is once again considered ECI, subject to the Cap. The Cap is the amount of FP's distributive share of ECI upon a hypothetical liquidation, which (since FP is now a 25% shareholder) is \$25. Even though FP already paid tax on all \$50 of unrealized gain in the

.

Except where noted otherwise, we assume that PRS in each example in this Report has no liabilities.

partnership's USTB assets, FP must nevertheless pay tax on an additional \$25 of ECI. Unlike the timing detriment presented in the first leg of the transaction, this is a permanent detriment. Foreign partners could presumably use the same interpretation of Section 864(c)(8) to partially duplicate their ECLs as well, thus turning a timing benefit into a permanent benefit.²¹ Thus, in a universe of voluntary transfers, where partial gain transfers result in duplication of gains and partial loss transfers result in duplication of losses, it may be the case that the number of partial gain and partial loss transactions will not be proportional to the total of built-in ECI and ECL in that universe and that the fisc will be the net loser from the resulting whipsaw.²²

We therefore recommend that the government issue regulations interpreting Sections 864(c)(8)(A) and (B) as implicitly embodying a consistent proportionality rule, for both gains and losses, effectively replicating the rule of Rev. Rul. 91-32. This would eliminate the accelerated recognition of ECI and ECL and, more importantly, the potential duplication of ECI and ECL, each of which is artificial and unwarranted. We believe there is room for such an interpretation, because the Cap contained in Section 864(c)(8)(B) refers to "the portion of the partner's distributive share of the amount of gain" that would be treated as ECI or ECL in a hypothetical liquidation, suggesting that percentages, not dollar amounts, are at issue. This interpretation, however, is not the most natural reading of the statute, which otherwise appears to be based on the amount, and not percentage, of gain or loss. All of this raises the question why Section 864(c)(8) did not track the language of Rev. Rul. 91-32 more closely. Thus, there is some risk that such an interpretation may be challenged by a foreign partner looking to accelerate or duplicate its losses from a USTB it holds through a partnership. While we think this risk is relatively small given the obvious policy issues associated with the more literal reading of the statute, the safest way to eliminate this risk would be through a technical correction.

This effect appears to magnify as the number of sales increases. If FP disposes of its interest over three sales, the amount of gain (or loss) treated as ECI (or ECL) increases; if FP disposes of its interest over four sales, it increases further. Although we have not provided an example, this problem of over-inclusion of ECI also applies to successive distributions by a partnership to a foreign partner in excess of basis.

²² Consider a case where FP holds interests in PRS1 (which has a built-in ECI) and PRS2 (which has a builtin ECL). FP wishes to sell its interests in PRS1 and PRS2 to Secondary Fund, a family of funds which has an onshore and offshore parallel fund structure. Presumably, if all of the interests in PRS1 are sold in a single transaction to a single buyer (for example, an aggregating vehicle formed by Onshore Secondary Fund and Offshore Secondary Fund), then the "right" result would be obtained and FP would be taxed on the proper amount of ECI (that is, the amount prescribed by Rev. Rul. 91-32). By contrast, if FP sells a partial interest in PRS2 to Onshore Secondary Fund and the remainder in a separate transaction to Offshore Secondary Fund, there does not appear to be a technical rule to prevent the result described above, with the net result that FP can use its "excess" ECL recognized on the sale of PRS2 to offset a portion of its (correctly calculated) ECI on PRS1. There does not appear to be any policy justification for such duplication of gain or loss and it is difficult to conceive of a Congressional intent to permit the duplication of either gains or losses to result in permanent under- or over-taxation. FP should not have to induce Secondary Fund to form an aggregating vehicle solely to mitigate this result, nor should it be able to benefit from duplication of losses in the case of partial sales (whether or not linked). While this example may seem somewhat extreme, it is just one illustration of the potential risks of not addressing the partial sale issue.

As an alternative, if the government is concerned that it lacks the authority to promulgate the rule suggested, it could consider promulgating a regulation preventing unrealized gain or loss in a USTB that was previously used to treat gain or loss of the foreign partner as ECI or ECL under Section 864(c)(8) from being used for calculating the partner's Cap in the future, with appropriate adjustments for intervening changes in the partner's proportional interest in the partnership. Such a solution would not solve the acceleration of gain and loss issue described above, but it would mitigate the duplication problem at the cost of considerable incremental complexity. However, advocates of this approach believe that it could arguably be viewed as more faithful to the statutory language.²³

2. <u>Multiple Transfers of a Single Partnership Interest</u>

Foreign partners may also over-count their gains and losses in a situation where a single partnership interest is transferred multiple times by multiple foreign transferors.

Example 4. In Example 1 above, suppose that FP sells its entire interest to FP2 for \$100. FP must recognize \$50 of ECI, the entirety of the unrealized gain in its share of PRS's USTB assets, in connection with the transfer. FP2's basis in its 50% partnership interest is \$100. Now suppose PRS's non-USTB assets increase in value so that they are worth \$200. FP2 now sells its interest in PRS to FP3 for \$150, realizing a gain of \$50. Under Section 864(c)(8)(A), all of FP2's gain (\$50) is considered ECI, subject to the Cap. As discussed above, the Cap is the amount of FP's distributive share of ECI upon a hypothetical liquidation. If PRS had a Section 754 election in place when FP sold its interest, PRS's basis in the USTB assets would have received a step-up on the sale of FP's interest to FP2, ²⁴ and the Cap would be \$0 – FP would not recognize any ECI on the disposition. If, however, PRS did not have a Section 754 election in effect at the time FP sold its interest, the Cap at the time FP2 sold its interest would be \$50, and FP2 would be required to recognize \$50 of ECI (due to the unrealized gain in the USTB assets) despite the fact that FP already recognized as ECI all of such unrealized gain. ²⁵ ECI recognition corresponding to the unrealized ECI gain is effectively duplicated. ²⁶ If

The Service could take the position that it is simply interpreting Section 864(c)(8)(B) as providing the method for calculating the Cap in the case of a foreign partner's first disposition (partial or complete) of its partnership interest, and that another rule applies on subsequent dispositions of the remainder of such interest.

²⁴ Section 743(b).

If, instead of the non-USTB assets increasing in value by \$100, the USTB assets increased in value by \$100, the Cap would be \$150, and all \$50 of gain realized by FP2 upon its sale of the PRS interest would be treated as ECI. This is the correct result – because FP2 owns 50% of PRS, FP should recognize ECI with respect to half of the \$100 of post-acquisition gain in the USTB assets, or \$50.

Using Rev. Rul. 91-32's formula, because 33% of FP2's distributive share of PRS's gain upon a hypothetical liquidation of its assets would be considered ECI, 33% of FP2's gain is treated as ECI, and FP2 realizes \$13.33 of ECI gain. This mitigates, but does not solve, the problem of duplication of ECI recognition. Moreover, if, as in the previous note, it was the USTB that increased in value, Rev. Rul. 91-32 would dictate that 66% of FP2's gain, or \$26.66, is ECI – allowing FP2 to underpay on its 50% share of the \$100 gain in the value of the USTB assets.

the non-USTB assets increased in value by another \$100, and FP3 sold its interest to FP4 for \$200, FP3 would be required to recognize again all of the unrealized ECI gain in the USTB assets, effectively triple-counting such gain. Foreign partners could use this technique to double-or triple-count an ECL as well, with a significant caveat. Under Section 743(b), a partnership with a "substantial built-in loss" is required to adjust downward its basis in its assets upon a partner's disposition of its interest, as if a Section 754 election was in effect. The problem of ECL duplication therefore only exists with respect to a relatively small amount of losses.

A similar situation arises in the context of U.S. partners. In that context, however, recognition of gain on a subsequent asset sale is more likely to produce a usable offsetting loss than in the foreign partner context. In either case, partnerships that wish to avoid double-counting gain may make a Section 754 election, while the mandatory step down in partnership basis where there is a "substantial built-in loss" should prevent significant harm to the fisc from FP's double-counting ECLs. Should the government decide to address the issue, however, our recommendation above for a regulation excluding already-utilized unrealized gain from future calculation of the Cap could be expanded to include the scenario reflected in Example 4, thereby preventing duplication of ECI and ECL.

C. <u>Treatment of Partnership Distributions</u>

A distribution by a partnership to a partner generally does not result in the recognition of gain or loss. Specifically, Section 731(a) provides that a partner generally does not recognize gain or loss on receipt of non-liquidating distributions from a partnership. An exception is provided in the case of distributions of "money" (defined to include cash and in certain cases marketable securities) in excess of such partner's adjusted basis in its partnership interest, in which case gain is recognized in an amount equal to the excess of such distribution over the partner's adjusted basis in its partnership interest.²⁸ Loss may be recognized by a partner in connection with a distribution only in the case of a liquidating distribution of money. The flush language at the end of Section 731(a) provides that "[a]ny gain or loss recognized under this subsection shall be considered as gain or loss from the sale or exchange of the partnership interest of the distributee partner." This language appears to bring gain recognized on distributions in excess of basis, and losses recognized on liquidation, within the potential ambit of Section 864(c)(8), which applies to "gain or loss on the sale or exchange of all (or any portion

-

A partnership is treated as having a "substantial built-in loss" if either (i) the partnership has an unrealized loss of \$250,000 or more in its assets or (ii) the transferee partner would be allocated a loss of more than \$250,000 if the partnership assets were sold for their fair market value. Section 743(d).

In the case of a mixed distribution, containing both money and other property, the distributee partner recognizes gain only to the extent the money received exceeds its adjusted basis immediately prior to the distribution. Treas. Reg. § 1.731-1(a)(1)(i). Throughout this discussion, the term "distribution in excess of basis" refers to a distribution containing an amount of money greater than the distributee partner's adjusted basis in its partnership interest. A "distribution not in excess of basis" refers to either (i) a distribution of money equal to or less than the distributee partner's adjusted basis in its partnership interest or (ii) a distribution that does not include money, in each case even though the value of property distributed may exceed the partner's adjusted basis in its partnership interest.

of) such interest,"²⁹ and Section 1446(f), which applies to "any portion of the gain (if any) on any disposition of an interest."³⁰ Presumably, in such a case, the partnership is the "transferee," and thus the withholding agent, for Section 1446(f) purposes.

Under Section 6.05 of the Notice, no withholding is required under Section 1446(f) on distributions not in excess of basis. Section 9 of the Notice, in turn, provides procedures on which the partnership may rely to determine a foreign partner's basis. The approach of the Notice is consistent with the concept that Section 864(c)(8) does not apply to partnership distributions not in excess of basis. We recommend that regulations retain this approach.

As drafted, however, the Notice appears to be silent concerning the amount of withholding required where a distribution exceeds the distributee partner's basis. Under Section 1446(f), withholding is required in an amount "equal to 10 percent of the amount realized on the disposition." In the case of a distribution in excess of basis, it is arguably unclear what "the amount realized on the disposition" refers to. It could refer to the distribution in its entirety, or to the portion of the distribution in excess of basis. Technically, Section 731(a) only recharacterizes "gain... recognized under this subsection" as gain on a disposition. The more appropriate reading, therefore, might be that "the amount realized on the disposition" for purposes of Section 1446(f) is the amount of gain recognized under Section 731(a) (i.e., the excess of the distribution over basis). However, an argument could be made that gain recognized under Section 731(a) is treated as gain from a disposition because Section 731(a) recharacterizes the entire distribution as a disposition. Were such a reading to be adopted, 10% of the amount realized on the disposition would be equal to 10% of the entire distribution. Depending on the answer, the partnership could have dramatically different withholding tax obligations.

Example 5. To take an extreme case, suppose FP has a \$50,000,000 adjusted basis in its partnership interest, and receives a non-liquidating cash distribution of \$50,001,000. If withholding is required on 10% of the entire distribution, the partnership must withhold \$5,000,100; by contrast, if withholding is only required on 10% of the amount distributed in excess of basis, or if the cash were distributed in two separately-respected distributions of \$50,000,000 and \$1,000, the partnership must withhold only \$100. A requirement to withhold on 10% of the entire distribution would therefore create a cliff effect, leading to large amounts of over-withholding and therefore giving partnerships a strong incentive to split up distributions to foreign partners that would otherwise exceed basis in order to decrease the amount required to be withheld. As a matter of policy, there does not seem to be any benefit to creating such a cliff effect, nor to treating two smaller distributions differently from one larger one. Moreover, as pointed out above, absent a disguised sale, there is no sale or exchange except to the extent one is deemed to occur under Section 731(a), and that deeming rule applies in the case of a gain transaction only to the portion of the distribution that exceeds basis. Thus, we think both technical and policy considerations favor withholding only on the amount distributed in excess of basis.

Section 864(c)(8)(A).

Section 1446(f)(1).

It could nevertheless be argued that, in the example above, while withholding on \$1,000 is the right target *amount* as a policy matter, 10% is the wrong *rate*, and withholding should be imposed on the excess distribution at the actual rate (or perhaps the top rate) applicable to a partner of that status. The reason Section 1446(f) prescribes a 10% withholding tax rate in the case of a disposition is presumably because withholding is based on the amount realized, not on the amount of gain that is subject to tax. In the ordinary case, the transferee does not know FP's basis in its partnership interest, and therefore cannot withhold based on the exact amount of FP's gain. A 10% rate might be viewed simply as "rough justice." In the case of a distribution, however, the partnership is expected to know FP's basis in its partnership interest, as well as the portion of the gain which is ECI, and can more easily withhold the amount of FP's exact tax liability, similar to "regular" Section 1446 withholding. The statute, however, does not appear to contemplate this option.

One possible approach, if the government believes it has the authority to do so, would be to impose withholding at a 10% rate on the entire distribution if the aggregate amount of money distributed exceeded the partner's basis, but allow partnerships to elect into a regime that would impose withholding solely on the effectively connected amount distributed in excess of the partner's basis at the applicable statutory tax rates on net income, rather than at a 10% rate. The election could be conditioned on following the certification procedures for establishing basis in the case of distributions within basis, ³¹ and could be irrevocable once made. This could, if desired, be an "all or nothing" election that would apply to all distributions by the partnership to foreign partners in excess of such foreign partners' basis. If the election was made, the withholding rate would be (under current law) 20% or 37%, depending on the type of income (for nonresident aliens) or 21% (for foreign corporations) on the amount in excess of FP's adjusted basis, as determined by the partnership's books and records or by a certification by the foreign partner, properly treated as ECI. ³²

For this purpose, distributions that are treated as in complete liquidation of a partner's interest would be aggregated, as would distributions that were intentionally disaggregated or broken up for purposes of avoiding this rule. Treasury and the IRS may also find it desirable to consider an aggregation rule that would presume distributions that are made within a given time period (*e.g.*, two or three years) are made with an intention to disaggregate (and thus impose aggregation for purposes of this rule unless the partnership can rebut the presumption). ³³

See Notice, Section 7.

In the case of a partner that is a partnership, principles similar to those of Treas. Reg. § 1.1446-5(c) could apply.

Where a series of distributions are aggregated, it is possible that the amount of tax required to be withheld (absent a partnership election to withhold at a higher rate on only the excess distribution) by the partnership may exceed the amount of cash actually distributed in the distribution which ultimately caused the distribution in excess of basis (for example, such an issue would arise if the two distributions of \$50,000,000 and \$1,000 in Example 5 above were aggregated). In order to mitigate the adverse consequences to a partnership of such an outcome, we suggest that the government consider adopting a position that it will not seek to collect from a partnership, as withholding agent, an amount of tax greater than the amount of tax that would have been withheld had the election described above been made. We

We recognize that this approach, subject to possible aggregation, still leaves open the possibility that a non-electing partnership could make multiple distributions over a period of time and that the earlier distributions within basis would not be subject to withholding and the later distributions that include amounts in excess of basis would be subject to only a 10% rate of withholding. But this is what the statute appears to contemplate.

D. Application of the Provisions to Tiered Partnerships

The application of the Provisions to transactions involving tiered partnerships needs clarification and is uncertain in certain respects. To illustrate the basic issue, suppose that FP owns an interest in a holding partnership ("HP"), which owns an interest in an operating partnership ("OP"). Section 864(c)(8)(A) provides:

[I]f a nonresident alien individual or foreign corporation owns, *directly or indirectly*, an interest in a partnership which is engaged in any trade or business within the United States, gain or loss on the sale or exchange of all (or any portion of) *such interest* shall be treated as effectively connected with the conduct of such trade or business to the extent such gain or loss does not exceed the amount determined under subparagraph (B).³⁴

If HP sells its interest in OP, that appears to fall cleanly within the ambit of the statute – FP indirectly owns an interest in OP, and such interest is being sold. If, on the other hand, FP sells its interest in HP, the application of Section 864(c)(8) to such a sale is less clear. By its terms, the statute contemplates cases where an interest in a partnership that is engaged in a USTB ("such interest") is sold; the statute includes situations where an interest in the operating partnership is indirectly *owned* prior to being sold, but does not directly address situations where an interest in the operating partnership is indirectly *sold*. Arguably, the statute intended to say something along these lines: "[I]f a nonresident alien individual or foreign corporation owns, directly or indirectly, an interest in a partnership which is engaged in any trade or business within the United States, gain or loss on the *direct or indirect* sale or exchange of all (or any portion of) such interest shall be treated as effectively connected with the conduct of such trade or business to the extent such gain or loss does not exceed the amount determined under subparagraph (B)." (suggested addition in italics). However, it did not use such language.

also note that certain aspects of the tax treatment of multi-year liquidating distributions raise well-known, and unanswered, questions under Subchapter K that are beyond the scope of this Report but that ultimately impact the tax treatment of such distributions under Sections 864(c)(8) and 1446(f).

Emphasis added.

Note that if HP is a domestic partnership, no Section 1446(f) withholding would arise on the sale, because HP is not a foreign person. However, "regular" Section 1446 withholding would presumably apply. We recommend that guidance confirm this result.

From a policy perspective, the sale of an interest in HP should fall within the ambit of the statute. The alternative, that FP recognizes no ECI or ECL upon its sale of an interest in HP, could allow a foreign person to avoid paying U.S. federal income tax on the disposition of its interest in an operating partnership by investing in the operating partnership through an aggregator or holding partnership and then selling its interest in such an upper-tier partnership. This is not an appropriate result.³⁶

While the wording in the statute is not optimal, we think the most straightforward approach to treating gain or loss on such a sale as ECI or ECL is to treat HP as being engaged in a USTB by reason of its interest in OP. In this regard, Section 875(1) provides that "a nonresident alien individual or foreign corporation shall be considered as being engaged in a trade or business within the United States if the partnership of which such individual or corporation is a member is so engaged." We recognize that HP is neither an individual nor a foreign corporation, and HP is not in fact engaged in a trade or business, except indirectly through OP. Presumably, the argument would be that Section 875(1) should be applied through tiers of partnerships to treat FP as engaged in a USTB, and it should therefore implicitly be read to treat HP as engaged in a USTB as well. In other words, at least for this purpose, HP is treated as directly being engaged in a trade or business. It could be argued that if this is correct then the reference to "directly or indirectly" in the statute would presumably have been unnecessary, because FP would meet the test automatically so long as HP is a partner in OP. But in the case where HP disposes of its interest in OP, that language might have some meaning.³⁷ Having said that, this is a very convoluted way to arrive at a conclusion that could have been said much more simply had the statute included the second "directly or indirectly" where indicated above. We think the government should provide guidance on this fact pattern and confirm that the transaction in the example is taxable, and the reasons therefor, while also pursuing a technical correction along the lines suggested above to eliminate any doubt in this regard.

E. Limitation of Gain/Loss Under Section 864(c)(8)

By its terms, Section 864(c)(8) causes only gain or loss otherwise recognized to be recharacterized as ECI or ECL. Specifically, Section 864(c)(8)(A) states:

if a nonresident alien individual or foreign corporation owns, directly or indirectly, an interest in a partnership which is engaged in any trade or business within the United States, gain or loss on the sale or exchange of all (or any portion of) such interest shall be treated as effectively connected with the conduct of such

-

But see ABA Report, supra note 6 at 21.

Another alternative interpretation, that the words "directly or indirectly" could be interpreted in this context to refer only to looking through record ownership to beneficial ownership rather than looking through tiers of entities, does not seem appropriate here. The more natural reading of the term, especially in the case where HP sells its interest in OP, is an entity look-through concept. But Cf. Bittker & Eustice, Federal Income Taxation of Corporations and Shareholders (Thomson Reuters/Tax & Accounting, 7th ed. 2015 with updates through July 2018) (accessed on Checkpoint (www.checkpoint.riag.com) July 2, 2018), Section 9.02, text and note at note 31 (arguing that "directly or indirectly" as used in Section 318 refers to beneficial rather than record ownership, not to looking through tiers if indirect entity ownership).

trade or business to the extent such gain or loss does not exceed the amount determined under subparagraph (B).

Thus, because Section 864(c)(8) starts by calculating the amount of gain or loss with respect to the sale or exchange, and then potentially reduces the amount of such gain or loss recharacterized as ECI or ECL by applying the Cap, it seems clear that, consistent with the approach taken in Rev. Rul. 91-32, the provision is intended to recharacterize, in applicable cases, recognized gain or loss as ECI or ECL, respectively, but that the provision should not cause a foreign partner that recognized a loss on the relevant sale to be treated as recognizing ECI (or vice versa).

Example 6. FP has a tax basis of \$110 in its interest in PRS and sells such interest for \$100. Therefore, FP recognizes a loss of \$10 in connection with the sale. Assume that if PRS had sold all of its underlying assets, FP would have been allocated \$10 of ECI and \$20 of loss that would not have been ECL, and that none of PRS's assets are "hot assets" for purposes of Section 751. In such a case, FP should recognize a \$10 loss that should not be an ECL in connection with the sale of its interest, and FP should not recognize any ECI because, even though FP would have been allocated \$10 of ECI upon a sale of all of FP's assets, the amount that may be recharacterized as ECI under Section 864(c)(8) cannot exceed (by virtue of the Cap) the amount of gain actually recognized, which in this case is zero.

It is not entirely clear, however, how the application of Section 751(a) to a foreign partner's sale of its partnership interest might affect this "gain limitation" feature. Section 751(a) and the Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder may cause the seller of a partnership interest that otherwise would recognize a loss upon the sale to instead recognize ordinary income in respect of its share of gain in the partnership's unrealized receivables and inventory items and a correspondingly greater amount of capital loss in connection with the sale. If Section 751(a) applies first, before the application of Section 864(c)(8), any ordinary gain triggered by Section 751(a) would seemingly be eligible for potential recharacterization as ECI under Section 864(c)(8), even though the seller may have an overall loss in its partnership interest.

Example 7. Facts are the same as Example 6, except that all \$10 of ECI that FP would have recognized upon a sale of PRS's assets relates to unrealized receivables of PRS. Thus, upon the sale of FP's PRS interest, Section 751(a) causes FP to recognize \$10 of ordinary gain and \$20 of capital loss. In such a case, if Section 751(a) applies before determining potential recharacterization under Section 864(c)(8), then all \$10 of the ordinary gain recognized due to the application of Section 751(a) would be recharacterized as ECI. 38

While the statute is not clear on this point, we believe that the better reading is that a foreign partner first must determine how much gain or loss it recognizes in connection with a partnership interest sale (including by virtue of Section 751(a)), and then apply Section 864(c)(8)

_

For a discussion of a similar issue arising under Rev. Rul. 91-32, see N.Y. St. Ba. Ass'n, Tax Sec., Report on Guidance Implementing Revenue Ruling 91-32 at n. 19 (Jan. 21, 2014).

to determine whether any of such gain or loss should be recharacterized as ECI or ECL.³⁹ In any event, we recommend that regulations clarify whether Section 864(c)(8) applies before or after the application of Section 751(a).

F. Partnership Determinations of Fair Market Value

In order to determine the amount (if any) of gain or loss recognized by the foreign transferor of a partnership interest that is treated as ECI or ECL under Section 864(c)(8), it must be determined how much ECI or ECL would be recognized by such partner upon the partnership's sale of all of its assets on the date of transfer at their fair market value. The statute does not clearly indicate whether fair market value of a partnership's assets under this hypothetical sale approach should be based on (i) normal principles for determining the fair market value of assets (*i.e.*, the willing buyer-willing seller standard) or (ii) the extrapolated value of the partnership's assets based on the purchase price for the partnership interest being transferred.

Example 8. PRS believes that the total fair market value of its assets is \$100, and reflects that value in determining its net asset value. PRS further believes that half of its assets (\$50) constitute USTB assets and the other half of its assets (\$50) are non-USTB assets. FP owns a 10% interest in PRS with a \$0 basis and sells such interest on the secondary market for \$85. The purchase price reflects a discount to the interest's net asset value due to the lack of a market for the interests in PRS. PRS has a \$0 basis in its assets, and FP has a \$0 basis in its PRS interest. FP recognizes \$85 of gain on the sale of its PRS interest. As a technical matter, Section 864(c)(8) requires that such gain be treated as ECI up to the Cap, which looks to how much ECI would be allocated to FP if all of PRS's assets were sold for their fair market value (or \$50 as viewed from PRS's perspective). This is in contrast with the proportionality approach taken in Rev. Rul. 91-32, which would cause 50% of FP's gain (or \$42.50) to be treated as ECI because 50% of the built-in gain at PRS relates to USTB assets.

Treatment of \$50 of FP's gain as ECI, even though only 50% of the underlying gain relates to USTB assets, seems questionable from a policy perspective. Further, a requirement for a partnership to determine the total fair market value of its assets in a manner that is not simply a function of the purchase price paid to the foreign selling partner would require certain partnerships (*i.e.*, those that do not otherwise routinely calculate fair market value) to undertake additional (and potentially costly) work. As a result, we recommend that regulations require that, in applying the hypothetical allocation regime of Section 864(c)(8), a partnership should assign an aggregate value to its assets that, if the partnership were to sell all of its assets for that aggregate value, would result in the partnership (after payment of its liabilities) distributing an amount in respect of the transferred interest that is equal to the amount paid to the foreign partner for such interest. As applied to Example 8, this approach would cause FP to recognize \$42.50

But see ABA Report, supra note 6 at 11 (stating: "We note, however, that although section 751 normally can result in ordinary gain or loss in excess of the total outside gain or loss in certain cases [citation omitted], that possibility appears to be foreclosed for a foreign partner that is taxed only on ECI").

This approach would be similar to that provided in Treas. Reg. § 1.755-1(a)(4) in connection with determining the amount of basis adjustments under Section 743(b).

of ECI because the assets of PRS would be treated as having an aggregate value sufficient to cause the transferred interest to receive \$85 upon a sale of PRS's assets followed by its immediate liquidation.⁴¹

G. Effect of the Distributive Share Provision

In determining the amount of gain or loss from the sale or exchange of a partnership interest that is treated as ECI or ECL, the flush language following Section 864(c)(8)(B)(ii)(II) provides that "a partner's distributive share of gain or loss on the deemed sale shall be determined in the same manner as such partner's distributive share of the non-separately stated taxable income or loss of such partnership." The Committee Report provides no indication regarding the intent of this distributive share provision. As described below, while the intent of this provision is unclear, we have considered three potential interpretations of such provision.

First, the language might be interpreted as providing that Section 864(c)(8) is applied by ignoring any special allocations made by a partnership. We believe that it is unlikely that the language was intended to produce such a result and strongly recommend that regulations do not implement such an approach. As a general matter, Section 864(c)(8) is intended to produce a tax result for a selling partner that is generally consistent with a sale by the underlying partnership of its assets and the allocation of gain or loss from such a sale to its partners. Taxable gain or loss from an actual sale of partnership assets would be allocated among its partners based on their economic sharing of profits or losses from the sale. Such economic sharing would reflect any special allocation of specific items of income, gain, loss or deduction, such that a special allocation of such items as an economic matter generally would also result in an allocation of the corresponding tax items among the partners (assuming such allocations are respected under Section 704(b)). If special allocations were ignored for purposes of applying Section 864(c)(8), a sale of a partnership interest could result in dramatically different tax consequences from a sale by the partnership of its underlying assets.

Example 9. PRS has two partners, FP and USP. PRS has two businesses, one that constitutes a USTB and the other that does not constitute a USTB. PRS has a \$0 basis in each business. Each business has a fair market value of \$100. PRS generally allocates all of its items 50% each to FP and USP, but specially allocates 90% of its items from its USTB to FP (with the remaining 10% of such items allocated to USP). If PRS were to sell all of its assets, FP would be allocated \$140 of gain (\$90 of ECI from the USTB and \$50 of non-ECI gain from the non-USTB). If instead FP were to sell its PRS interest for \$140, it would recognize \$140 of gain (assuming it has a \$0 basis in its interest). If regulations were to adopt an approach that would ignore special allocations, FP might recognize only \$70 of ECI, rather than the \$90 it would have recognized upon a sale by PRS of its assets. Such a result would be inconsistent with the general purpose behind the enactment of Section 864(c)(8), which was to better align the treatment of a foreign partner's partnership interest sale with that of a sale of underlying assets.

The converse would also be true; in the case in which an interest was sold at a premium, this approach would preclude ignoring the premium on calculation of ECI and ECL.

Second, the provision could be interpreted as providing that the hypothetical ECI or ECL from the deemed sale must be treated as allocable to each partner in the same proportion as its share of ordinary business income or loss of the partnership as shown in Box 1 of the partner's Schedule K-1. We believe that such interpretation is misguided and should be dismissed for the same reasons as the first interpretation. That is, a partner's share of ordinary business income or loss (as shown in Box 1 of Schedule K-1) may bear little correlation to how such partner would share ECI or ECL if the partnership sold its assets, and thus would often produce highly distortive results. The distortive effect of this interpretation may be particularly pronounced in the case of Section 704(c) gain or loss.

Example 10. FP and USP form PRS, with FP contributing USTB assets (that would give rise to long-term capital gain upon sale) with a fair market value of \$100 and a basis of \$0 and USP contributing \$100 of cash. FP and USP share all profits and losses equally. If PRS were to sell the assets contributed by FP for \$100, all \$100 of capital gain would be allocated to FP under Section 704(c), which would appear in Box 9a (net long-term capital gain (loss)) of FP's Schedule K-1. Assume instead that FP sold its partnership interest for \$100. Under the second interpretation, upon the hypothetical deemed sale transaction FP would be allocated only \$50 of the \$100 of ECI recognized by PRS (*i.e.*, its share of Box 1 income or loss) and thus would recognize only \$50 of ECI upon the sale of its partnership interest. As illustrated by this example, if this interpretation were to be adopted, a partner having Section 704(c) gain that sells its partnership interest may recognize dramatically different tax consequences as compared to a direct sale of the same assets by the partnership.

The third interpretation of the provision is that it reflects Congressional concern about the use of special allocations to distort the application of Section 864(c)(8) in a manner that reduces or eliminates its impact. We believe that the principles of Section 704(b), together with the operation of Section 704(c) and reverse Section 704(c), generally should prevent the use of special allocations to cause inappropriate results under Section 864(c)(8). Nevertheless, in order to give effect to this interpretation of the distributive share language, the government could consider including in regulations an anti-abuse rule that would ignore the effect of any special allocation a principal purpose of which was to reduce the amount of ECI (or increase the amount of ECL) recognized by a foreign partner upon a sale of its partnership interest.⁴⁴ Although we

This amount is the "Ordinary business income or loss" reflected on Form 1065 (U.S. Return of Partnership Income). The partner's distributive share is reflected in Box 1 of Schedule K-1 (Form 1065).

Committee Report, p. 229.

In this regard, we note that the Committee Report, in its discussion of a similar provision in Section 163(j) concerning nonseparately stated income, described nonseparately stated income as:

Similar distortions could arise with respect to reverse Section 704(c) allocations. To the extent one views either type of allocation as "special," similar distortions would arise under the first interpretation as well.

For example, such a result could apply in cases where an adjustment is made to partnership allocations for the purpose of reducing the amount of ECI allocable to a foreign partner in anticipation of an interest transfer, where there is no "book up" of assets in connection with such adjustment. *See* note 15 above

feel that such an anti-abuse rule may be unnecessary, its inclusion in regulations should have limited impact in light of the points made above.⁴⁵

We note, however, that in light of the confusion regarding the proper application of the distributive share provision, the government may wish to consider a legislative correction in order to avoid the possibility that taxpayers attempt to apply the provision in an inappropriate manner (*e.g.*, by asserting that, pursuant to the statutory provision, special allocations of a partnership must be disregarded for purposes of applying Sections 864(c)(8) and 1446(f)).

H. Source of Gain Recognized Under Section 864(c)(8)

This section discusses how gain or loss which is treated as ECI or ECL under Section 864(c)(8) should be sourced. By way of background, for purposes of the sourcing rules, a partnership interest is treated as personal property except to the extent that FIRPTA applies. Section 865(a) provides that "except as otherwise provided in this section, income from the sale of personal property... by a nonresident shall be sourced outside the United States."

Assuming that a partnership interest is not inventory in the hands of a nonresident seller, the only relevant exception to the above rule arises if the sale is "attributable" to a U.S. office maintained by the nonresident. For this purpose, Section 865(e)(2) provides that "the principles of Section 864(c)(5) shall apply in determining whether a taxpayer has an office or other fixed place of business and whether a sale is attributable to such an office or other fixed place of business."

Section 864(c)(5)(B) provides that "income, gain, or loss shall not be considered as attributable to an office or other fixed place of business within the United States unless such office or fixed place of business is a material factor in the production of such income, gain, or loss and such office or fixed place of business regularly carries on activities of the type from which such income, gain, or loss is derived." The regulations thereunder provide that "the activities of the office or other fixed place of business shall not be considered to be a material factor in the realization of the income, gain, or loss unless they provide a significant contribution to, by being an essential economic element in, the realization of the income, gain, or loss."

(discussing the potential for distortions where no "book up" occurs in connection with an adjustment to partnership allocations).

This interpretation is generally consistent with the Tax Section's recommendations concerning substantially similar language contained in Section 163(j). See N.Y. St. Ba. Ass'n, Tax Sec., Report on Section 163(j) (May 28, 2018) (suggesting that the language in Section 163(j) requiring a partner's distributive share of excess taxable income be allocated in the same manner as its share of the partnership's non-separately stated income or loss should be read as preventing a partnership from allocating "Post-Calculation Items" disproportionately (relative to their sharing of income generally) among the partners).

See Blessing and Lubkin, 905-2nd T.M., Source of Income Rules (accessed on Bloomberg Law (www.bloomberglaw.com) 7/6/18), VII.A.2.1.1.

⁴⁷ Treas. Reg. § 1.864-6(b)(1).

The foregoing is the general rule. No specific rule is provided for the sourcing of sales of partnership interests. Treas. Reg. § 1.864-6(b)(2)(i) provides a specific rule for sourcing gains and losses arising from intangible property including patents, copyrights, franchises, trademarks, trade names, goodwill, "and other like properties." This regulation provides that the material factor test is not met "merely because the office or other fixed place of business conducts one or more of the following activities: (a) Develops, creates, produces, or acquires and adds substantial value to, the property which is leased, licensed, or sold, or exchanged..." Rather, the regulation explicitly requires that the U.S. office actively participate in the sale itself in order for gain to be treated as U.S. source income.

Prior to the enactment of Section 864(c)(8), source was critical to the determination of ECI and ECL. This is because Section 864(c)(4)(A) provides that, with exceptions not relevant hereto, no foreign source gain or loss shall be treated as effectively connected. Thus, gains and losses from the sale of partnership interests could not be treated as ECI or ECL by reason of Section 864(c)(4)(B) if such gains or losses were treated as foreign source. Based on the regulations discussed above, it could be argued that such gains and losses also could not be treated as U.S. source by reason of Section 865(e)(2), unless the selling nonresident partner maintained an office in the United States that regularly engaged in the sale of such interests (for example, if the nonresident was a dealer in such interests).

Rev. Rul. 91-32 addressed this issue directly, providing for ECI or ECL treatment in appropriate cases, by treating the partnership's office as attributable to the partner, and then treating the participation of that office in the development of the partnership's property as fulfilling the materiality factor, thereby making gain or loss on sale of a partnership interest U.S. source. The Tax Court, citing the regulations on sourcing the sale of an intangible discussed above, rejected this argument in *GMM*, 49 holding that gain or loss on a foreign partner's sale of its partnership interest is treated as foreign source unless the U.S. office of the foreign partner materially participates in the sale in the ordinary course of its business.

Section 864(c)(8) does not address source at all. It does not refer to the source of the gain or loss realized on the sale of a partnership interest treated as ECI or ECL under its provisions; nor did the Act substantively amend Section 865 or any of the other relevant source rules in the Code. Instead, Section 864(c)(8) simply provides that gain or loss from the sale of an interest in a partnership that has a USTB is treated as ECI or ECL if certain requirements are met. This approach raises the question: how, in the absence of an explicit source rule, is the ECI or ECL from the sale of such a partnership interest to be sourced?

33

_

This regulation applies to intangible property "located outside the United States." Section 864(c)(5) elaborates on Section 864(c)(4)(B), which in turn is concerned only with foreign source income treated as ECI by reason of its attribution to a U.S. office. Presumably the principles of Section 865(c)(5) do not depend on the location of the property in question. However, it appears that the Service, at least, does not believe this is the case. Brief for Respondent-Appellant, *Grecian Magnesite Mining, Industrial & Shipping Co., SA v. Commissioner* (D.C. Cir. *brief filed June 8*, 2018) (No. 17-1268), at *27-*29.

⁴⁹ *Grecian Magnesite*, 149 T.C. No. 3 at *37-*47.

One approach would be to read the statute as written, and to therefore view it as having no impact on sourcing. This approach would follow the form of a sale of a partnership interest and apply Section 865(a) to source the gain or loss, because there are no relevant sourcing rules contained in Section 864 and no correlative changes were made to the Code sections that do deal with source. For comparison, when Congress enacted FIRPTA, it was careful to amend the source rule for real property in Section 861(a)(5) so that gain from the disposition of any asset treated as a USRPI (and therefore treated as ECI under FIRPTA) would be treated as U.S. source, thereby conforming source and ECI treatment for USRPIs. No such sentiment appears to have animated the drafters of Section 864(c)(8). This does not mean that gain or loss treated as ECI or ECL under Section 864(c)(8) is necessarily foreign or U.S. source; it simply means that the source of such income or gain has no bearing on its status as effectively connected (or vice versa), but must be determined independently.

This conclusion, however, leads to the following conundrum: Section 864(c)(4)(A) was not amended by the Act, and therefore still provides that, with exceptions not relevant hereto, no foreign source gain or loss shall be treated as ECI or ECL. Read literally, this could be construed to mean that, to the extent the gain arising from the sale of a partnership interest is foreign source, it cannot be treated as ECI under Section 864(c)(8). However, this reading could negate Section 864(c)(8) in whole or in part, a result that presumably was not intended by the drafters of the Act. Moreover, given that Section 864(c)(8) is both more specific and later in time than Section 864(c)(4)(A), and was written in response to *GMM* holding the gain to be foreign source, it would seem that the former provision should trump the latter even if the result is that foreign source gain would be treated as ECI under Section 864(c)(8). Nonetheless, it would be helpful if the government issued guidance to the effect that gain arising under Section 864(c)(8) would still be treated as ECI even if properly classified as foreign source, if only to prevent the Service from being whipsawed by taxpayers taking different positions on this issue. 50

50

The contrary argument (i.e., that Section 864(c)(8) does not trump Section 864(c)(4)(A)) places the vitality of Section 864(c)(8) at risk by gambling that the Service's appeal in GMM will succeed. But even if the Service prevails on appeal in GMM, presumably the Tax Court would defer to its own decision in GMM in any case not appealable to the D.C. Circuit. Golsen v. Commissioner, 54 T.C. 742 (1970), aff'd on other grounds, 445 F.2d 985 (10th Cir. 1971). There does not appear to be a strong argument that the mere enactment of Section 864(c)(8) changed the source rules. An entirely new source provision cannot easily be conjured from a subsection that nowhere mentions source. This mode of reasoning would also render provisions such as Section 861(a)(5) mere surplusage, because the enactment of Section 897 itself (under this reasoning) and the need to reconcile Section 897 with Section 864(c)(4)(A) would have sufficed to convert the source of gain on the sale of, say, stock of a USRPHC from foreign source to U.S. source. There appears to be little if any commentary on the interaction between Section 864(c)(8) and the source rules. However, the ABA Report, supra note 6 at 12, which does not explicitly deal with source, argues in the context of treaties that the fact that Section 864(c)(8)(B) uses a hypothetical liquidation to calculate the Cap "could be read as indicative that such deemed asset sale character be applied in testing eligibility for treaty protection." Presumably, a similar argument could be made in the source context as well. However, it is not entirely clear how this would affect source. For example, under the approach taken by the Tax Court in GMM, presumably the source rules would still be the same, namely that the gain would be sourced by reference to the partner's residence, unless a U.S. office participated in the sale itself. Of course, here there is no sale (other than the sale of the partnership interest itself), so source would presumably be determined based either on the partner's actual office (the path taken by the Tax Court in GMM) or on the hypothetical participation of the partnership office in a hypothetical sale. It is not clear what the basis for

Assuming that the government adopts the position that Section 864(c)(8) applies regardless of how source is determined, the question arises whether there is anything at stake on the source issue. The main impact of treating ECI gain arising under Section 864(c)(8) as foreign source would be to make it easier for the foreign partner to credit any foreign taxes imposed on such gain against the taxes imposed by reason of Section 864(c)(8). Conversely, making such ECI U.S. source would make it more challenging for the foreign partner to credit such foreign taxes against the tax liability imposed by virtue of Section 864(c)(8). The facts of GMM are instructive in this regard. Grecian Magnesite paid tax in Greece on the gain triggered by the sale of its interest in the U.S. partnership.⁵¹ To treat that gain as U.S. source ECI – the result mandated on the facts of that case by Rev. Rul. 91-32 - could have resulted in double taxation of the same gain. This potential outcome arises because the gain would be re-sourced away from the country of residence of the seller.⁵² On the other hand, adopting the rule articulated by the Tax Court in GMM - which would generally leave source aligned with residence – could mitigate double taxation. It could be argued that adopting a rule which decreases double taxation would be a desirable result from a policy perspective, at least once the statute requires treating the gain as ECI regardless of source.

an interpretation using a hypothetical office participation would be. On the other hand, it could be argued that the method of calculating the Cap itself presupposes such a hypothetical exercise. *See* note 55 below. But it is one thing to presume office participation for purposes of calculating the Cap, as the Cap is really an exception (or a relief valve) from the basic rule that all of the gain or loss is ECI or ECL. It is another thing to use a hypothetical office participation to reverse the basic source rule (which is residence of the seller) where no such participation actually occurred.

- See Petitioner's Reply Brief at 11, Grecian Magnesite, Mining, Industrial & Shipping Co., SA v. Comm'r, 149 T.C. No. 3 (2017) (No. 19215-12).
- Were a rule similar to that of Section 864(c)(8) become the international norm, double and even triple taxation of gains could become even more likely without a residence-based source rule. Consider the following example:

Example 10. PRS does business and has offices in three countries (the United States, Canada and Mexico). FP is a Mexican resident. FP's share of the built-in gain of the three branches is as follows: US: +\$25X; Canada: +25X (USD); Mexico: -\$25X (USD). Assume FP's overall gain on the sale of its partnership interest is therefore \$25X (USD). Presumably, all of this gain is treated as ECI for U.S. federal income tax purposes (total gain = \$25X; amount of allocated ECI in a hypothetical asset sale = \$25X), and assume that such ECI is treated as U.S. source income. However, should Canada adopt a similar rule, then not only would all of the gain be fully subject to tax in Canada as well, for the same reason, but Canada would also presumably consider all of the gain to be Canadian source. Finally, it stands to reason that Mexico, the state of residence, would also seek to tax the gain and might logically consider the gain to be Mexican source. That would mean three jurisdictions would impose tax on the same amount of economic gain, with no foreign tax credits available in any country. On the other hand, should all three countries treat the gain as being Mexican source, then the triple taxation problem would be potentially eliminated. Note that Section 865(e)(2)(B) actually provides for a limited "tie breaker" rule where offices located in the U.S. and abroad both materially participate in the transaction; however, its scope is limited to sales of inventory property for use or distribution outside the United States.

Assuming one wishes to deviate from a residence-based source rule, however, there are a number of other ways to mitigate double taxation if desired, at least in theory. For one, Greece could have re-sourced the gain even though it was derived by a Greek resident from the sale of an interest in a business entity which sale was negotiated exclusively in Greece. This does not seem likely, although we note that under Section 865(e)(1) presumably that result would have arisen in the "mirror" case had Greek tax of 10% or more been imposed on the sale of a partnership interest by a U.S. resident so long as the partnership had an office in Greece which had contributed in some way to the growth of the business. ⁵³

Assuming Greece would not re-source the gain, another way to mitigate double taxation would be to resort to treaty provisions. Treaties could address the issue by barring imposition of tax by the nonresident state. The taxpayer in *GMM* made precisely such a claim, but the issue was not reached by the Tax Court which held for the taxpayer on purely statutory grounds. This approach would eliminate double taxation but at the cost of also eliminating the tax base of the nonresident state entirely when the sale of the branch is effected by a sale of partnership interests.⁵⁴

In short, neither approach to mitigating double taxation appears very satisfactory or very practical, at least when compared to residence-based sourcing, if ECI and ECL status is decoupled from source.

To summarize, applying pre-Act law, the Tax Court in *GMM* held gain of the type subject to tax under Section 864(c)(8) to be foreign source income; to the extent that result is correct, nothing in the Act expressly changes that result. We have set forth certain considerations above that may be considered in determining the appropriate source rule in this context. In this context, we think consideration could be given, if desired, to the implications for double taxation when considering the source of ECI and ECL arising from sales of partnership interests by

⁵³ Presumably, the office attribution rule of Section 865(e)(1) in the partnership context should operate in the same way it operates in Section 865(e)(2), which is addressed in Rev. Rul. 91-32. Thus, the hypothetical U.S. partner in the Greek partnership would be attributed the Greek office of the partnership. Deviating from a residence-based source rule based on the partnership's activities (as opposed to those of the partner) could have .consequences other potentially unintendedEven assuming, on the facts of GMM, that Greece would have adopted a rule akin to Section 865(e)(1), it is not clear how such a rule would apply where Greece (the residence state) views the partnership as fiscally opaque or views it as fiscally transparent but interprets the office attribution rule as the Tax Court did in GMM. For example, on the facts in GMM, if Greece had treated the partnership involved therein as fiscally opaque and had therefore treated the sale of partnership interests as a sale of stock, double taxation would presumably have arisen. And of course the same double taxation would also apply in the mirror case, where (for example) the U.S. treated a Greek partnership as a corporation while Greece taxed the sale because (in Greece) the corporation was a partnership. The rule of Section 864(c)(8) is not hybrid-sensitive, and the office attribution rule employed in Rev. Rul. 91-32 is a Code-based rule. The point is that a number of stars must align rather precisely to mitigate double taxation on sales of partnership interests once one departs from residence-based sourcing. The two countries must each have some version of Section 865(e)(1), they must have congruent rules concerning hybridity, and they must apply the office attribution rules in a similar, if not identical,

The application of treaties to transactions otherwise subject to Section 864(c)(8) is analyzed in Part I below.

foreign persons in a post-Act world, which points towards adoption or retention of residence-based sourcing. 55

I. Interaction with Bilateral Income Tax Treaties

As a general rule, the U.S. does not tax gains of foreign persons unless such gains are or are deemed to be effectively connected with the conduct of a USTB. Bilateral income tax treaties generally operate to limit the taxes imposed by one jurisdiction on the residents of the other jurisdiction, usually to avoid or minimize double taxation of the same income. In particular, the "Gains" and "Business Profits" articles of most U.S. bilateral income tax treaties generally operate to shield any gains derived by a resident of one jurisdiction from taxation by the other jurisdiction unless such gains arise from the alienation of a permanent establishment (a "PE") or of personal property forming part of the business property of a PE in the other jurisdiction, or are derived from real property (as defined) situated in the other jurisdiction. Because, leaving USRPIs aside, the U.S. generally only taxes "effectively connected" gains of foreign persons to begin with, the impact of treaties on the U.S. federal income taxation of a foreign person's gains is generally limited to exempting from tax such ECI which does not arise from the alienation of personal property forming part of a PE.

While a Code provision which is later in time may override a treaty provision, in order to do so it ordinarily must address or relate to the treaty provision it is overriding.⁵⁶ Neither the Act in general nor Section 864(c)(8) in particular, by its terms, purports to affect the application of

-

We note that there may be other considerations. For example, adopting residence-based sourcing would de-couple in many cases the source results in interest transfers from asset transfers. While the statute indicates a desire to align more closely the taxation of interest and asset transfers, it is silent as to alignment Under the approach suggested in the text, arguably the desired alignment has been accomplished by making the "right" amount of income effectively connected. In addition, we think implementation of a look through source rule could be very complicated since it could be necessary to determine the source of a myriad of hypothetical asset transfers. For example, Section 865(e)(2)(B) resources gain or loss on sales of inventory property by a nonresident from foreign to U.S. if the gain is attributable to a U.S. office of the nonresident and then re-sources the gain back to foreign source if a foreign office materially participated in the sale and the sale is for use, disposition or consumption outside the United States. It is unclear how the participation of either the U.S. or foreign office would be determined in the case of a hypothetical sale, much less whether the hypothetical buyer of the inventory would be foreign. The difficulty could increase further if one takes the broader view of office attribution advanced by the Service in GMM, since that would require a potential inquiry into other activity not directly related to the hypothetical sale. This is only one issue of many, as the sourcing rules are complex. Adoption of a partner-level sourcing rule could be much simpler in this respect, although given the linkage between source and the determination of ECI, it could be argued that many of the same issues would arise in determining the Cap in any event.

TWA v. Franklin Mint Corp., 466 U.S. 243, 252 (1984) ("There is, first, a firm and obviously sound canon of construction against finding implicit repeal of a treaty in ambiguous congressional action"); Cook v. U.S., 288 U.S. 102, 120 (1933) ("A treaty will not be deemed to have been abrogated or modified by a later statute unless such purpose on the part of Congress has been clearly expressed"); Amaral v. Commissioner, 90 T.C. 802, 812 fn. 12 (1988), nonacq. 1988-2 C.B. 1 ("Congress may terminate or modify a treaty by a later statute, [citation omitted] but we will not deem a treaty to have been so modified or terminated unless we find that Congress has clearly expressed its purpose to do so.")

treaties. This approach can be contrasted with that taken by Congress with respect to FIRPTA, which specifically provided for treaty overrides.⁵⁷ Section 864(c)(8) simply treats as ECI or ECL certain gains or losses derived by foreign persons on sales of partnership interests. As pointed out above, this is neutral from a treaty perspective, because the gains provision of U.S. bilateral income tax treaties by definition can only apply to precisely such gains – for if there is no tax, the treaty has no application. Accordingly, our view is that Section 864(c)(8) was not intended to override any U.S. bilateral income tax treaty. That this result was intended can, we think, be gleaned from the text and legislative history of the Act, which nowhere mention treaties.

However, this does not end the inquiry. It is still necessary to determine whether and in what circumstances gain on the sale of a partnership interest would constitute gain from the alienation of personal property forming part of the business property of a PE in the United States under the provisions of a given treaty. In this regard, Rev. Rul. 91-32, Situation 3, directly addresses this issue, and we think it therefore provides helpful guidance. It states as follows (emphasis added):

Situation 3

...the Draft United States Model Income Tax Treaty (June 16, 1981) (the Treaty).... generally exempts from United States tax gain from the disposition of movable property by a resident of the United States treaty partner. *See* Article 13(3) (Gains) of the Treaty. However, this rule does not apply if such gain is from the alienation of movable property that are assets of a permanent establishment in the United States.

A foreign partner of a partnership that has a permanent establishment in the United States is treated as itself having a permanent establishment. *Donroy, Ltd. v. United States,* 301 F.2d 200 (9th Cir. 1962); *see* Rev. Rul. 85-60, 1985-1 C.B. 187. More particularly, "the office or permanent establishment of a partnership is the office of each of its partners, whether general or limited." *Unger v. Commissioner, T. C.* Memo. 1990-15, 58 TCM 1157, 1159, citing *Donroy, Ltd. v. United States, supra.* Accordingly, *FP2* is considered to have a permanent establishment in the United States because he is a partner in PS2.

The determination whether gain from the alienation of movable property is attributable to a permanent establishment in the United States is generally made

Section 1122(c) of P.L. 96-499 (as amended by Sec. 831(h) of P.L. 97-34), which added Section 897 to the Code, specifically provided that "except as provided in paragraph (2) [concerning certain renegotiated treaties], after December 31, 1984, nothing in section 894(a) or 7852(d) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 or in any other provision of law shall be treated as requiring, by reason of any treaty obligation of the United States, an exemption from (or reduction of) any tax imposed by section 871 or 882 of such Code on a gain described in section 897 of such Code."

by applying principles analogous to those governing whether an item is effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States, though the "attributable to" concept of the Treaty is more limited in its scope than the "effectively connected" concept of the Code. *See* Rev. Rul. 81-78, 1981-1 C.B. 604. The principles applied are substantially similar, however, when the amounts at issue are those that would be described in section 864(c)(2) of the Code if the Treaty were not applied. Accordingly, for the reasons discussed in *Situation* 1, a disposition of an interest in a partnership that has a permanent establishment in the United States will be treated as resulting in gain that is attributable to the permanent establishment to the extent provided below.

It is appropriate under the Treaty to look to a foreign partner's interest in the assets of the partnership to determine the amount of the foreign partner's gain from the disposition of its partnership interest that is attributable to a United States permanent establishment. *Cf.* Commentary on Article 1 of the OECD Model Double Taxation Convention on Income and Capital, paragraphs 2-5 (1977). Gain of *FP2* from the disposition of its interest in PS2 will thus be subject to United States tax only to the extent such gain is attributable to the unrealized gain of the partnership's assets attributable to the partnership's permanent establishment, and loss will be allocable to *FP2's* gain from sources within the United States that is attributable to a permanent establishment of *FP2*. Such gain or loss is to be determined in the manner described in *Situation 1*.

Holdings

...

Situation 3

Under the Treaty, gain of a foreign partner that disposes of its interest in a partnership that has a United States permanent establishment is gain that is attributable to a permanent establishment and is subject to United States tax under the Treaty, to the extent that the partner's potential distributive share of unrealized gain of the partnership is attributable to the partnership's permanent establishment.

The analysis contained in Situation 3 leads to at least three conclusions.

First, if a partnership has no PE, then a treaty-based foreign partner is clearly protected from taxation under a typical U.S. bilateral income tax treaty upon a disposition of its partnership interest, and nothing in Section 864(c)(8) adversely affects that protection, even if the partnership in question has a USTB.

Second, even if the partnership has a PE, the amount of gain under the treaty in question would be limited to the amount of gain "attributable" to that PE, which, as Rev. Rul. 91-32 notes,

can be different (usually lower) than the amount which would be treated as effectively connected under the Code. ⁵⁸

Third, where the partnership has a PE, the analysis critically depends on "exporting" the Code-based analysis of Situations 1 and 2 to a treaty context (see underscored language). It was this exact "look through" analysis, however, that the Tax Court rejected in *GMM*.

The facts in *GMM* involved a redemption of a partnership interest and, accordingly, the operative section was Section 731. *GMM* stated as follows:

...section 731(a)...makes explicit that the "entity theory" generally applies to a partner's gain from a distribution:

Any gain or loss recognized under this subsection shall be considered as gain or loss *from the sale or exchange of the partnership interest* of the distributee partner.

Sec. 731(a) (emphasis added). This wording could hardly be clearer. The partnership provisions in subchapter K of the Code provide a general rule that the "entity theory" applies to sales and liquidating distributions of partnership interests-i.e., that such sales are treated not as sales of underlying assets but as sales of the partnership interest....

The Commissioner has not convinced us to reconsider the argument that we rejected 38 years ago when it was advanced by the taxpayer in Pollack. Addressing ourselves to the statutory text, we conclude that subchapter K mandates treating the disputed gain as capital gain from the disposition of a single asset....

To summarize thus far, the method employed in Rev. Rul. 91-32 to treat sales of partnership interests as sales of business property of a PE owned by the partnership seems to be exactly the same as the "aggregate" method used in that Ruling to treat such sales as taxable under the Code. That aggregate method was rejected by the Tax Court in *GMM*. ⁵⁹ Using that

⁵⁸

It would be helpful to have guidance as to how these rules apply in hybrid situations. Consider the following example: FP, a foreign corporation resident in Country A, is a partner in Hybrid, a Country B LLC that holds a USTB but no PE and is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and as a corporation for Country B purposes. Country A does not have an income tax treaty with the United States, while Country B does. If Hybrid sold its USTB and would be able to claim benefits under the Country B treaty, because Country B does not regard Hybrid as fiscally transparent, presumably FP would therefore not have any income tax liability on the sale. On the other hand, if FP sold its interest in Hybrid, Section 864(c)(8) would presumably treat such gain as ECI. Guidance as to whether FP would be eligible to claim any treaty benefits in this situation under the logic of Rev. Rul. 91-32 would be useful.

Grecian Magnesite, 149 T.C. No. 3 at *25-*31. While GMM is currently on appeal, based on the brief filed by the Commissioner, it does not appear that the aforementioned conclusion is being challenged by the government. Brief for Respondent-Appellant, Grecian Magnesite Mining, Industrial & Shipping Co., SA v. Commissioner (D.C. Cir. brief filed June 8, 2018), (No. 17-1268). Rather, the Commissioner's brief concentrates solely on the holding in GMM that the gain derived by the taxpayer in that case on the redemption of its partnership interest was foreign source.

common law "aggregate" approach, and assuming no challenge to the holding of *GMM* on the "aggregate versus entity" issue is successful, it is not clear how one could directly apply Situation 3 to subject to U.S. tax a treaty-based foreign selling partner on the grounds that the partnership interest being sold was in fact the PE itself or "business property" of the PE of the partnership itself once it is conceded that the partnership interest is itself a separate unitary asset and not some sort of amalgam of interests in the underlying assets. The analysis in Situation 3 was explicitly based on the approach in Situation 1, the same approach which was rejected by the Tax Court in *GMM*. It is difficult to see how a common law aggregate approach could be applied for purposes of applying a treaty if it does not apply for purposes of applying Code provisions generally. Absent such an approach, it is also not intuitively obvious on what grounds a partnership interest is "business property" of the PE owned by the partnership (much less that it is the PE itself). The contrary interpretation if anything seems more logical, as well as consistent with the reasoning of *GMM*.

We note that while Rev. Rul. 91-32 uses the words "attributable to a PE" in the underscored passage above, it is not entirely clear that the attribution concept found in the business profits article of most treaties is germane here. The 2016 United States Model Income Tax Convention (the "*Model Treaty*"), as well as most U.S. income tax treaties in general, expressly subordinates the provisions of the Business Profits article to any other article (such as the Gains article) which deals with a specific category of income. Thus the question of whether a gain is "attributable" to a PE is generally relevant only where the treaty permits taxation of the gains in the first place. In the case of personal or movable property, this property generally must be the PE itself or form part of the "business property" of the PE before it can be taxed, and before the question of "attribution" arises. Rev. Rul. 91-32 in effect avoided or elided this issue by adopting an aggregate approach to partnership interests, but *GMM* rejected that approach.

Nor are the words of the Gains article of the Model Treaty themselves conducive to aggregate argument on their face. In the treaty context, the question is whether the assets sold consisted of "business property" of the PE, not whether the gain on the sale of interests is

Model Treaty, Article 7(4): "Where profits include items of income that are dealt with separately in other Articles of this Convention, then the provisions of those Articles shall not be affected by the provisions of this Article."

It should be noted that some treaties use concepts other than "business property" of a PE. For instance, the Romanian treaty (Article 13(1)(a)) and the South Korean treaty (Article 16(1)(b)) each provide for taxation in the state where the PE is located if "the property giving rise to the gain is <u>effectively connected</u> with such permanent establishment," which may suggest a different (perhaps broader) test. In addition, a few treaties do not contain a "Gains" article, and some give broader scope to taxing gains generally than the Model Treaty does.

If, however, one were to take the position that the attribution concept should govern the taxability of the gain, we note that the technical explanations of many treaties explain "attribution" in the treaty context as "analogous but not entirely equivalent to the 'effectively connected' concept in Code section 864(c)" (see, e.g., the Technical Explanation to Article 7(2) of the United Kingdom treaty), and that one could argue that once Section 864(c)(8) has recharacterized the gain as ECI in the domestic context, the gain is "attributable to" a PE in the treaty context.

"attributable" to the PE. This is a different and arguably narrower test that whether the gain is "attributable" to a PE, just as it also seems to be a different and narrower test than the connection required to be effectively connected under the Code. In addition, the typical U.S. bilateral income tax treaty provides an explicit look-through rule for partnerships where real property is concerned. In other words, a partnership interest can be treated as a real estate interest to the extent (and only to the extent) its assets consist of real property interests. It is not necessary to make this rule bilateral (although at least one treaty previously did) because of the incorporation of the Code definition of a USRPI in the case of the United States, thereby incorporating Section 897(g) directly into the treaty. But it suffices to show that the treaty itself does not presume a generic "look through" rule for partnership interests. For example, the analogous provision for gains derived from the sale of movable property provides as follows:

Gains from the alienation of movable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment that an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State, including such gains from the alienation of such a permanent establishment (alone or with the whole enterprise), may be taxed in that other Contracting State. 65

While not dispositive, the structure of the Model Treaty provision appears to indicate that if an "aggregate" approach to taxation of gains arising from sales of partnership interests is

where	that other	Contracting	State is	,	
		_			
	where	where that other	where that other Contracting	where that other Contracting State is	where that other Contracting State is,

64

For example, Article 13 of the Model Treaty provides in relevant part concerning gains derived from real estate:

^{1.} Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of real property (immovable property) situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other Contracting State.

^{2.} For the purposes of this Article the term "real property (immovable property) situated in the other Contracting State" shall include:

a) real property (immovable property) referred to in Article 6 (Income from Real Property (Immovable Property));

b) where that other Contracting State is the United States, a United States real property interest; and

ii) an interest in a partnership or trust to the extent that the assets of the partnership or trust consist of real property situated in $___$, ...

See, e.g., the original Article 13(3)(b) of the 1980 U.S.-Canada treaty (available at https://www.irs.gov/businesses/international-businesses/canada-tax-treaty-documents), establishing a bilateral rule, which was later replaced under Article 6(1) of the 1983 protocol to the treaty, which incorporated the concept of a USRPI.

Article 13(3) of the Model Treaty.

appropriate, such approach should be found in the domestic law of the country in which the PE was located, if at all.

In fact, one treaty that explicitly addresses this issue in the text of the treaty appears to take precisely this approach. The Protocol to the German treaty, with respect to its Gain article (which is otherwise similar to the Model Treaty provisions quoted above), provides that "Nothing in [Article 13(3)] shall prevent gains from the alienation by a resident of a Contracting State of an interest in a partnership, trust, or estate that has a permanent establishment situated in the other Contracting State from being treated as gain under paragraph 3."66 The technical explanations to the treaties with Austria, the Netherlands, Sweden, Turkey, and Ukraine (at least) each contain a somewhat similar, though arguably broader, statement (although the treaties themselves do not). The legislative history to other treaties often will contain a reference to Rev. Rul. 91-32, but typically this is in the context of explaining why asset sales by a partnership are attributable to a foreign partner's PE. Aside from these references, there appears to be little if any authority on point in any treaty, in contrast to the treatment of gains derived from real property, where the "look through" treatment in the case of partnership interest sales is usually quite explicit.

This leaves open the question of whether the German Protocol was intended to confirm an interpretation of its Gains article or to expand it. The "nothing" language suggests the latter. Even if one takes the view that the Protocol is intended as an "in furtherance of" provision, it still leaves the taxation to domestic law and, as pointed out above, it is not entirely clear where this stands when the statutory provision in question has no reference to PEs and the administrative guidance uses reasoning which has been rejected by the only judicial decision on

-

Protocol Amending the Convention Between the United States of America and the Federal Republic of Germany for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with Respect to Taxes on Income and Capital and to Certain Other Taxes, Signed on 29th August 1989, Paragraph 13.

See, e.g., Treasury Department Technical Explanation of U.S.-Netherlands income tax treaty, signed December 18, 1992, and the protocol amending the treaty, signed October 13, 1993, Article 14 ("[Paragraph 3] permits gains from the alienation by a resident of a State of an interest in a partnership, trust or estate that has a permanent establishment situated in the other State to be taxed as gains attributable to such permanent establishment under paragraph 3. Thus, for example, the United States may tax gains derived from the disposition of an interest in a partnership that has a permanent establishment in the United States, regardless of whether the assets of such partnership consist of personal property as defined in Article 14.").

See, e.g., Treasury Department Technical Explanation of U.S.-United Kingdom income tax treaty, signed July 24, 2001 ("A resident of the United Kingdom that is a partner in a partnership doing business in the United States generally will have a permanent establishment in the United States as a result of the activities of the partnership, assuming that the activities of the partnership rise to the level of a permanent establishment. Rev. Rul. 91-32, 1991-1 C.B. 107. Further, under paragraph 3, the United States generally may tax a partner's distributive share of income realized by a partnership on the disposition of personal (movable) property forming part of the business property of the partnership in the United States."). The question presented by these references to Rev. Rul. 91-32 is whether they represent some sort of an implicit understanding between the contracting states that aggregate treatment in this case was appropriate. Whatever the strength of this argument, it clearly seems weaker where the reference to Rev. Rul. 91-32 makes no mention of partnership interest sales.

point to date. In the interim, regardless of the scope of the gains provision, Rev. Rul. 91-32 has not been withdrawn and accordingly, taxpayers can still rely on it whether or not it binds them. ⁶⁹

To summarize, taxpayers appear to remain protected by Rev. Rul. 91-32 in the treaty context, while there is doubt as to the degree to which the Service can continue to use its method of analysis in that context. To the extent the Service cannot use the reasoning of Rev. Rul. 91-32, Section 864(c)(8) may not provide assistance in treaty interpretation for the reasons set forth above.

This state of affairs could benefit from further guidance. The Prior Letter urged the government to endorse the approach of Rev. Rul. 91-32, which at least would have the virtue of putting taxpayers on notice that they cannot assume the Ruling is now a one-way street in their favor. However, even if such an announcement is made, the theoretical basis for its conclusions may remain uncertain unless either (a) *GMM* or a successor case is overturned in a situation in which the aggregate versus entity conclusion is revisited, or (b) the conclusion of the analysis rests at least partly on a different theoretical basis than the common law "aggregate" approach of Rev. Rul. 91-32. For example, the ABA Report argues that the fact that Section 864(c)(8)(B) uses a hypothetical liquidation to calculate the Cap "could be read as indicative of an intention that such deemed asset sale character be applied in testing eligibility for treaty protection." This argument could potentially provide a statutory basis for the conclusion in Situation 3. In any event, the Model Treaty language appears to require that the partnership interest constitute either the permanent establishment the partnership owns or business property thereof in order to align with the approach taken in Rev. Rul. 91-32 and subject the sale of that asset to tax.

Given these considerations, in addition to confirmation of the result in Situation 3 of Rev. Rul. 91-32 by administrative guidance, if desired consideration could also be given to amending the Code to explicitly adopt the holding of that Ruling, as well as amending our treaties to resolve or clarify this issue. These various approaches are not necessarily mutually exclusive. 72

For example, the wording of the Model Treaty could be amended to create a corollary set of provisions to those found in the Model Treaty for partnerships owning real estate and that change could be introduced into protocols as the occasion arose.

For example, a typical treaty provision might say:

Rauenhorst v. Commissioner, 119 T.C. 157, 171 (2002) (holding that the Commissioner is bound by a revenue ruling that has not been revoked, even when a court has arguably ruled against it).

Prior Letter at 11.

ABA Report, *supra* note 6 at 12.

The ability of a foreign partner to claim foreign tax credits for any taxes it pays in its jurisdiction of tax residence, discussed above in Section H, may also be relevant in this context. *See* text accompanying note 54 above.

Gains from the alienation of movable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment that an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State, including such gains from the alienation of such a permanent establishment (alone or with the whole enterprise), may be taxed in that other Contracting State. For this purpose, the business property of a permanent establishment shall include interests in a partnership, trust or estate to the extent the [value of such interest is derived from] [gain or loss (if any) realized on such alienation is attributable to] a permanent establishment situated in the other state.

To the extent such a corollary set of provisions could not readily be added, consideration should be given to at least adding to existing treaties as the occasion arises a provision comparable to the Protocol to the German treaty.

J. <u>Coordination of the Provisions with the FIRPTA Provisions</u>

1. Coordination of Section 864(c)(8) with Section 897(g)

Section 864(c)(8)(C) provides that the amount of gain or loss potentially treated as ECI or ECL under Section 864(c)(8)(A) is reduced by the amount of gain or loss so treated under Section 897. Thus, in order to calculate the amount of gain or loss treated as ECI or ECL under Section 864(c)(8) upon the disposition of an interest in a partnership that holds both USRPIs and other USTB assets, the transferor must first determine the portion of the gain or loss treated as ECI or ECL under Section 897.

Where a foreign partner recognizes a gain (or loss) on its disposition of its partnership interest, and the partnership has built-in gain (or built-in loss) in both its USRPIs and its other USTB assets, the application of the FIRPTA coordination rule in Section 864(c)(8)(C) is relatively straightforward. It is unclear, however, how Section 864(c)(8)(C) should apply where a foreign partner recognizes gain or loss on its disposition of its partnership interest and the partnership has built-in gain in its USRPIs and a built-in loss in other USTB assets or vice versa.

Example 11. FP sells its interest in PRS for \$100. FP's adjusted tax basis in its PRS interest is \$100. Therefore, FP recognizes no gain or loss in connection with the disposition (assuming that Section 751 does not apply to cause FP to recognize any ordinary items). Of the \$100 of proceeds, (i) \$20 is attributable to a USRPI, in which FP's indirect basis is \$10 and (ii) \$80 is attributable to other USTB assets in which FP's indirect basis is \$90. FP recognizes \$10 of ECI gain relating to the USRPI under Section 897(g). Section 864(c)(8)(C) then directs FP to reduce the amount of ECI otherwise recognized under Section 864(c)(8) by \$10. Because FP otherwise recognizes no gain or loss in connection with the disposition, it is unclear whether Section 864(c)(8)(C) should cause FP to recognize a \$10 ECL (because its gain of zero was reduced by \$10 to result in a \$10 ECL) or whether the direction to reduce gain or loss by gain or loss recognized under Section 897(g) should be limited to reducing the amount to zero, but not creating an ECL where FP otherwise recognized ECI. While the language is unclear, we believe that sound tax policy should allow FP to recognize a \$10 ECL in this case. Specifically, if PRS were to sell all of its assets, FP would recognize no net ECI or ECL because its share of ECI with respect to PRS's USRPI would be offset by its share of ECL with respect to PRS's non-USRPI

USTB assets. It is difficult to see the policy justification to require FP to recognize ECI with respect to the USRPI and deny it the ECL with respect to the other assets. Accordingly, we recommend that regulations provide that FP's reduction of ECI or ECL recognized under Section 864(c)(8) for gain or loss recognized under FIRPTA may result in the creation of ECI or ECL, even where FP recognizes no overall gain or loss, respectively, in connection with the disposition.

2. Coordination of Section 1446(f) with Section 1445

As discussed above, the Notice states that Treasury and the Service intend to issue regulations that Section 1446(f) withholding is not required if upon the transfer of a partnership interest the transferee is provided a certification that either:

- for the transferor's immediately prior taxable year and the two taxable years that precede it (i) the transferor was a partner in the partnership for the entirety of each of those years, and (ii) the transferor's allocable share of ECI for each of those taxable years was less than 25% of the transferor's total distributive share of income for that year (a "25% ECI Exception"), 73 or
- if the partnership had sold all of its assets for their fair market value, the amount of ECI recognized by the partnership would be less than 25% of the partnership's total gain recognized (a "25% Gain Exception" and, together with the 25% ECI Certification, the "25% Exceptions"). 74

For purposes of each of these exceptions, the Notice does not distinguish between ECI from the disposition of a USRPI under Section 897 and ECI from the disposition of other USTB assets. With respect to the transfer of a partnership interest in a partnership holding USRPIs, Treas. Reg. § 1.1445-11T(d)(1) requires the withholding of tax under Section 1445 only if (i) 50% or more of the value of the gross assets consist of USPRIs, and (ii) 90% or more of the value of the gross assets consist of USPRIs plus any cash or cash equivalents (the "50/90 Rule").

We consider below three alternative approaches for taking into account USRPIs in applying the 25% Exceptions:

- treat FIRPTA gains as ECI for purposes of determining the amount of ECI and include such gains in determining the total amount of income and gains,
- ignore FIRPTA gains in determining the amount of ECI, but include such gains in determining the total amount of income and gains, and
- ignore FIRPTA gain in determining both the amount of ECI and the total amount of income and gains.

Notice, Section 6.03.

Notice, Section 6.04.

Under the first approach, where FIRPTA gains would count both for determining the amount of ECI and for determining total income and gains, the disposition of an interest in a partnership with no USTB assets other than USRPIs could be ineligible for the 25% Gain Exception even though such partnership interest would not be subject to withholding under Section 1445 under the 50/90 Rule. For example, assume that PRS holds two assets, a USRPI with a basis of zero and a fair market value of \$25 and a non-USTB asset with a basis of zero and a fair market value of \$75. Assume further that the 25% ECI Exception does not apply. FP's sale of its interest in PRS would not be eligible for the 25% Gain Exception, even though PRS holds no USTB assets other than a USRPI.

Read literally, the 25% Exceptions look to how much ECI has been, or upon an asset sale would be, recognized and does not distinguish between ECI recognized under Section 897 and other types of ECI, which is consistent with the first approach. If the 25% Exceptions were interpreted in such a manner, however, it would substantially change the manner in which withholding upon the sale of partnership interests in partnerships holding real property would be applied, effectively replacing in most cases the 50/90 Rule with the 25% Exceptions. There is no suggestion in the Committee Report or otherwise that the Provisions were intended to alter the current substantive or withholding tax treatment under Section 897 and 1445 of transfers of partnership interests in real property partnerships. This view is consistent with Rev. Rul. 91-32, which was intended to address the treatment of gain attributable to USTB assets of a partnership other than USRPIs. Furthermore, given that the amount of overall gain or loss potentially treated as ECI or ECL under Section 864(c)(8) is reduced by the amount of ECI or ECL recognized under Section 897(g), it would seem odd that FIRPTA gains would nevertheless be counted in applying the 25% Exceptions.

Under the second approach, where FIRPTA gains would not count in determining the amount of ECI recognized but would count in determining total income and gains, the result could be highly distortive, particularly where most of the partnership's assets are either USRPIs or USTB assets other than USRPIs. For example, assume that PRS holds two assets, a USRPI with a basis of zero and a fair market value of \$76 and non-USTB assets with a basis of zero and a fair market value of \$24. If the second approach applied to treat PRS as having \$100 of builtin gain, only \$24 of which would produce ECI (because the built-in FIRPTA gain is ignored), FP's transfer of its PRS interest would not be subject to Section 1446(f) withholding under the 25% Gain Exception, even though all of PRS's gain would be treated as ECI.

The third approach, where FIRPTA gains would be ignored for both determining ECI and determining total income and gains, appears to be the most reasonable approach. In effect, it would apply the 25% Exceptions only to the non-USRPI assets held by the partnership and would look to the percentage of total income and gain that is (or upon an asset sale would be) derived with respect to those non-USRPI assets that would be ECI. This seems to be in keeping with the overall framework of the Provisions, which focus on non-FIRPTA ECI. Therefore, we recommend that regulations provide that in applying the 25% Exceptions, recognized or built-in gains with respect to USRPIs held by the partnership are ignored.

K. <u>Exception from Withholding Where Effectively Connected Gain is Less Than</u>
<u>Threshold Percentage of Total Gain</u>

As described above, the Notice provides for two exceptions – the 25% Exceptions – from withholding under Section 1446(f) where ECI is less than a threshold percentage of the total gain.

1. Level of the Threshold

The Notice states that the government intends "to provide future guidance that will reduce the threshold for withholding below 25 percent for both of these rules." It is not clear why the Notice would use a 25% threshold but then indicate its intention to use a lower threshold in future guidance. First, the 25% threshold is already substantially lower than the current 50/90 Test used for FIRPTA withholding. Second, because withholding under Section 1446(f) is generally an all-or-nothing approach (unless the government permits the issuance of withholding certificates allowing for a reduced amount of withholding), the full 10% of the amount realized in connection with a partnership interest transfer will need to be withheld so long as the relevant threshold is exceeded. Further lowering the threshold would increase the likelihood that the amount withheld will be substantially disproportionate to the amount of tax actually owed by the foreign partner. While it is not clear that the 25% threshold contained in the Notice should be reduced, we recommend that any reduction of such threshold be to a level no lower than 10% in light of the concerns discussed above.

2. Use of the 25% ECI Exception

We also note that ambiguity exists regarding the inapplicability of the 25% ECI Exception where a transferor "did not have a distributive share of income in any of its three immediately prior taxable years during which the partnership had effectively connected income." Specifically, it is unclear whether this provision applies where, in *any one* of such years, the transferor had no distributive share of income or, alternatively, only where, in *all* of such years, the transferor had no distributive share of income. While the language is unclear, we think that the better approach would be for the 25% ECI Exception to be inapplicable only where the transferor had no distributive share of ECI during the entire three-year period. As a result, we recommend that regulations clarify the application of the 25% ECI Exception in this regard.

We also note that because the 25% ECI Exception looks to whether the ECI allocated to the foreign partner was less than 25% of the partner's total distributive share of income for that year, it is unclear whether the exception may be applicable, and if so, how it should be applied, where for a particular taxable year the foreign partner was allocated ECL (rather than ECI) and/or where the foreign partner was allocated overall net loss.

L. Secondary Liability of a Partnership to Withhold Under Section 1446(f)(4)

Section 1446(f)(4) introduces a new regime of secondary withholding: If the buyer of a partnership interest ("B") does not properly withhold on FP in connection with the disposition of its interest in PRS, then PRS itself must withhold tax from future distributions to B in the same amount that B failed to withhold on PRS, plus interest. This withholding requirement was temporarily suspended under Section 11 of the Notice "until regulations or other guidance have been issued under [Section 1446(f)(4)]."

The operation of Section 1446(f)(4) raises several issues that should be addressed through guidance. The first issue is that Section 1446(f)(4) does not, by its terms, permit B to certify to PRS that it withheld properly in a manner that relieves PRS of the obligation to withhold on distributions to B. As the law presently stands, absent the Notice, when FP disposes of its PRS interest, the only way for PRS to be sure that it will avoid interest and penalties for not fulfilling its secondary withholding obligation is to withhold on future distributions to B and allow B to file for a refund. Although PRS may have information regarding the sales price and other details of the transaction, nothing in Section 1446(f)(4) or the Notice would allow PRS to rely on that knowledge in order to limit its secondary withholding obligation (including interest and penalties thereon).

Typically, the PRS partnership agreement will give PRS the right to deduct from distributions otherwise payable to any partner the amount of any withholding taxes properly charged to that partner. Such agreements may also include a contribution right, whereby partners must contribute any shortfall to PRS in the event that any future distributions payable to such partner are not sufficient to cover the withholding liability, and this right may survive even if the partner in question ceases to be a partner. Whether or not such provisions are included in the PRS agreement, and whether or not they explicitly reference Section 1446(f), PRS's general partner or managing member will often have at least a reasonable consent right over transfers of partnership interests, except in the case of PTP unit transfers. The general partner or managing member would be expected to require an indemnity from both B and FP for any secondary withholding liability imposed on PRS. While both of these types of "self-help" can mitigate the problem, absent a procedure which allows for certification and reliance, because the secondary liability is strict in nature, PRS is still technically liable unless it withholds the entirety of every future distribution it would make to B, including any liquidating distribution, until the potential exposure is satisfied, in which case B would need to file for a refund.

For example, consider a case in which an interest in PRS is sold as part of a much larger transaction. PRS may know what portion of the purchase price is allocated to the interests in PRS being transferred by FP and whether that allocated amount has been properly withheld upon. However, the portion of the purchase price allocated to the interest in PRS could be revised – for example, by reason of an audit, which could occur as long as FP's statute of limitations for the year of transfer stays open.

Accordingly, we recommend that regulations provide that PRS may rely on a certification by B that it fulfilled its requirement to withhold under Section 1446(f)(1) with respect to its acquisition of its PRS interest so long as PRS does not know or have reason to know the information contained in the certification is incorrect. Such certification could, if desired, include the basis on which B calculated the amount withheld. Exemption could be conditioned on PRS's cooperation in certifying as to FP's share of any PRS partnership liabilities under the

Note that, to the extent that primary withholding is relieved because of a certification safe harbor, there is presumably no secondary withholding – PRS would be liable only for amounts that B should have, but did not, withhold.

procedures set forth in the Notice or any similar future guidance, if such cooperation is not otherwise made obligatory. ⁷⁶

The second issue raised is the application of secondary withholding to PTP units. PTP units are traded on exchanges. Thus, the buyer of the interest does not know who the seller is, or vice versa. For this reason, we recommend in Part P below that any withholding required under Section 1446(f) be undertaken by the broker through which a PTP unit transfer is executed. For the same reason that it is impractical for the buyer of PTP units to withhold on the purchase price, it is also impractical for PRS to be responsible for determining whether proper withholding under Section 1446(f) was effected with respect to a PTP unit transfer and to be made liable for withholding on distributions to the buyer of such a unit where there was under-withholding. We would recommend that a corollary provision of a broker withholding regime would be to exempt the PTP from all secondary liability for exchange-traded sales of PTP units. Such an exemption should apply whether or not the relevant broker discharged its own withholding responsibility properly, at least in cases where the PTP did not know or have reason to know that such broker did not properly discharge its responsibilities.

Another issue is the scope of the secondary withholding requirement in the case of multiple transfers of a single partnership interest. Suppose FP transfers its interest in PRS to USP, who fails to withhold as required under Section 1446(f)(1) (the "first transfer"). PRS now has an obligation under Section 1446(f)(4) to withhold on future distributions to USP. Suppose further that, before PRS fully satisfies its secondary withholding obligation, USP transfers its interest to FP2, who is not required to withhold under Section 1446(f)(1) because USP can certify it is a U.S. person (the "second transfer"). By the terms of the statute, it would appear that PRS has no obligation to withhold on future distributions to FP2. PRS's obligation to withhold in connection with a transfer only extends to "distributions to the transferee." In the case of the first transfer, therefore, PRS's secondary withholding obligation only applies to mandate withholding from distributions to USP. USP is no longer a partner and no longer expects to receive any distributions from PRS. And if USP properly certified as to its U.S. status during the second transfer, PRS has no secondary obligation to withhold on FP2 in connection with the second transfer.

This result is sound from a policy perspective, as well. The contrary result, that USP's failure to withhold "taints" the interest it acquired such that PRS must withhold on whoever currently owns the tainted interest, would be impractical. Every potential purchaser of any partnership interest (including potential U.S. buyers of partnership interests from U.S. sellers) would need to diligence the history of transfers of the partnership interest going back to January 1, 2018 to ensure that in every prior transfer of that PRS interest (or any predecessor interest in a prior partnership which PRS succeeded to, for example, by reason of a merger or continuation) any withholding obligations were properly discharged. Applying secondary withholding in this manner would make persons who were only remotely or tangentially related to the underwithholding the persons who would bear the burden of that under-withholding. Partnerships, for

If such cooperation is made obligatory, then it also stands to reason that PRS should be entitled to rely on the certification.

their part, would be required to track their secondary withholding obligations on various interests as they were sold and resold. If complex rights in a tainted partnership interest were sold, or if a partner who holds both tainted and untainted interests in a partnership were to sell a portion of its aggregate interests to a third party, it could create uncertainty as to the partnership's withholding liability. The amount of work needed to "pedigree" every partnership interest transfer would be extensive and would only grow over time. In short, the statute does not provide for this sort of "successor" withholding regime and for the reasons set forth herein, even if there were authority to impose such a regime, we do not think it would be advisable to do so.

However, consider a case where FP and USP are under common control, or where the first transfer and the second transfer were part of the same plan and/or are close in time. In the most extreme case, USP's status as a bona fide partner might be open to question. In such a situation, exempting PRS from secondary withholding on distributions to FP2 may appear to blunt the deterrent effect of secondary withholding, which we assume is to motivate the parties to the transaction to withhold properly in the first place. Having said that, however, we think that any anti-abuse rule should in the first instance focus on FP, USP and FP2 (rather than PRS). For example, FP2 may know or have reason to know that USP is serving as FP's agent or intermediary. FP2 is better positioned to make this assessment, as opposed to PRS, which is (as pointed out above) a stranger to the transaction. In appropriate cases, FP2 should presumably not be permitted to rely on USP's nonforeign certification. On the other hand, if no anti-abuse rule applies to the primary withholding liability, none should apply to the secondary withholding liability either. PRS's secondary withholding liability is supposed to be derivative of a primary withholding liability, and is to be satisfied only out of future distributions to a person who did not discharge that responsibility properly. Where, for example, USP is a bona fide partner, neither condition obtains, because FP2 will be entitled to rely on USP's certification of nonforeign status and will therefore be exempt from primary withholding, and there are no future distributions to be made to USP from which secondary withholding can be satisfied.

Balancing all of the various factors, we think that an anti-abuse rule, if one is imposed, should be very narrowly targeted and apply if and only if (a) either (i) FP2 is not entitled to exemption from its obligation to withhold on the purchase from USP⁷⁷ (for example, because it knows or has reason to know that USP is acting as FP's agent), or (ii) under general tax principles, USP would not be treated as the beneficial owner of the interest in PRS, but rather would be treated as an agent or intermediary of either FP or FP2 and (b) PRS knows or has reason to know the condition described in (a)(i) or (ii) is present.

M. Application of Section 1446(f) Where There Are Insufficient Funds to Withhold

Section 8 of the Notice addresses a situation where 10% of the amount realized by a foreign partner upon its disposition of its partnership interest is greater than the amount of money or other property paid by the transferee. Such a situation could arise, for example, when the partnership's assets are heavily levered, or when the foreign partner cannot establish its share of

We recognize that it may be appropriate to apply the anti-abuse rule in appropriate cases where USP is a foreign person.

partnership liabilities. Section 8 provides that the transferee's withholding liability is limited to "the entire amount realized, determined without regard to the decrease in the transferor partner's share of partnership liabilities" (*i.e.*, "the amount that the transferor would, but for the transferee remitting it as withholding under Section 1446(f), receive from the transferee"). This limiting rule does not apply to withholding on a partnership distribution in excess of basis, or if the transferee is related to the transferor within the meaning of Section 267(b) or Section 707(b)(1).

The FIRPTA withholding regulations take a different approach, requiring that the transferee apply to the Secretary for a certificate of reduced withholding in a case where the amount paid is insufficient to cover the transferee's withholding obligation. Thus, while the FIRPTA regulations require Treasury's blessing to attain reduced withholding, the Notice allows for automatic reduced withholding in certain circumstances.

We believe that the approach taken by the government in Section 8 of the Notice is appropriate. We recognize that automatically reducing withholding may leave open some possibility of abuse, but we think the administrative burden placed on both Treasury and the taxpayers would be too heavy if Treasury were to be required to issue a withholding certificate for every transfer of an interest in a heavily levered partnership. Moreover, the fact that the automatic reduction rule does not apply in the case of a related transferee deals effectively with certain types of potential abuse. We do believe, however, that where the transferor and transferee are related, they should be able to apply to Treasury for a reduction in withholding, as provided in Section 1446(f)(3).

N. Withholding in Connection with Disguised Sales of Partnership Interests

In 1984, Congress enacted Section 707(a)(2)(B), ⁸⁰ which authorized the issuance of regulations permitting the recharacterization of related transfers of property to and from a partnership as a sale of a partnership interest where the transfers, "when viewed together, are properly characterized as a sale or exchange of property." While proposed regulations attempting to implement this provision were withdrawn in 2009, the Service announced at the time of such withdrawal that "until new guidance is issued, any determination of whether transfers between a partner or partners and a partnership is a transfer of a partnership interest will be based on the statutory language, guidance provided in legislative history, and case law."⁸¹ Thus, even in the absence of regulations regarding disguised sales of partnership interests, a contribution to a partnership and a related distribution by the partnership may in appropriate

⁷⁸ Treas. Reg. § 1.1445-1(b)(5).

Section 1446(f)(3) also provides for Treasury-approved, case-by-case reduced withholding: "At the request of the transferor or transferee, the Secretary may prescribe a reduced amount to be withheld under this section if the Secretary determines that to substitute such reduced amount will not jeopardize the collection of the tax imposed under this title with respect to gain treated under section 864(c)(8) as effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business with in the United States."

H.R. Rep. No. 98-432, pt. 2, at 883-884 (1984).

Announcement 2009-4, 2009-8 I.R.B. 597.

circumstances be treated as a disguised sale of a partnership interest by the distributee partner to the contributing partner.

Where a disguised sale of a partnership interest results from a contribution of property and a related distribution of property, the partner receiving the distribution is treated as selling its partnership interest to the partner making the contribution. Under this construct, the contributing partner would be the "transferee" (as defined in the Notice) of the partnership interest, and thus generally would be required to withhold tax under Section 1446(f). Because, however, the contributing partner will not actually be making a payment to the distributee partner, it could prove to be logistically difficult to impose the withholding tax responsibility on the contributing partner. The partnership, as the party actually making the payment to the partner deemed to be selling its interest, would be in a better position to effect any required withholding. Therefore, we recommend that regulations provide that the partnership (rather than the contributing partner) be responsible for withholding any amount required to be withheld under Section 1446(f) in connection with a disguised sale of a partnership interest. The government should be indifferent as to which party is responsible for withholding so long as that party is clearly identified.

If the partnership is made responsible for withholding under Section 1446(f) in the case of disguised sales of partnership interests, we further recommend that the partnership not be required to withhold any under-withheld amounts from distributions to the "transferee" partner under Section 1446(f)(4). The rationale for the partnership being required to withhold on distributions to the transferee is to penalize the party responsible for withholding for failing to do so. If the partnership, and not the "transferee" partner, is responsible for withholding, there is no reason to reduce future distributions to such partner. Instead, the partnership is already liable for any under-withholding in connection with the transactions and should be the party against whom the government should have recourse.

O. Withholding in Connection with a Transaction Described in Revenue Ruling 99-6

Rev. Rul. 99-6 addresses two situations in which the acquisition of partnership interests causes a partnership to become a disregarded entity for tax purposes. In the first situation, one of two partners in a partnership buys all of the other partner's interest in the partnership, causing the partnership to be treated as a disregarded entity. In the second situation, a single purchaser acquires all of the interests in an existing partnership from its partners, causing the partnership to be treated as a disregarded entity. In each situation, the ruling holds that the selling partner or partners are treated as selling partnership interests (thus implicating the provisions of Section 864(c)(8) if the partnership holds USTB assets). But in each situation, the purchaser is treated as acquiring all (in situation 2) or part (in situation 1) of the partnership's underlying assets.

Section 1446(f) by its terms requires withholding by any "transferee" of a partnership interest. The Notice defines the term "transferee" to mean "any person that acquires a partnership interest by transfer, and includes a partnership that makes a distribution." As a

Notice, Section 3.04.

result, the acquirer of a partnership interest in a transaction described in Rev. Rul. 99-6 is not considered a transferee based on such definition. Consequently, without further guidance, a transfer described in Rev. Rul. 99-6 would appear not to be subject to withholding. This is the case even though (i) a transfer of the same partnership interests in a transaction that did not result in the partnership becoming a disregarded entity would have been subject to withholding under Section 1446(f) and (ii) a transfer of the partnership's assets in a transaction causing the recognition of ECI would have triggered the partnership's requirement to withhold on its foreign partners under "regular" Section 1446.

We believe that it would be inappropriate for the transfer of interests in a partnership holding USTB assets to escape withholding tax solely by virtue of the fact that the partnership becomes a disregarded entity as a result of the transfer. Accordingly, we recommend that regulations under Section 1446(f) provide that where a person acquires interests in an existing partnership from one or more partners and the partnership becomes a disregarded entity as a result of such acquisition, the acquirer is treated as acquiring partnership interests for purposes of Section 1446(f), and thus is required to withhold under Section 1446(f) if an exemption from withholding is not available.

P. Withholding on the Disposition of a Publicly Traded Partnership Interests

After enactment of the Act, many practitioners and industry members expressed concern that a transferee of units in PTPs would be technically required to withhold tax under Section 1446(f) upon its acquisition of such units, even though the transferee would not have privity with the seller of such units, or the means or sophistication in withholding, in order to be able to effect the required withholding properly. In this regard, the Committee Report indicated that, in the case of a foreign partner's transfer of PTP units through a broker, the broker might be required to withhold tax under Section 1446(f) on behalf of the transferee. Further, given the volume and manner of execution of the trading of PTP units, any withholding of tax with respect to such trading, even by the brokers through which such trades are executed, would require the building of systems in order to effect the withholding and to make proper reporting to the Service in connection with such withholding. The building of such withholding tax systems would take a meaningful amount of time.

As noted above, in response to these concerns, Treasury and the Service issued Notice 2018-8, 2018-7 I.R.B. 352, which suspended all withholding in connection with the sale or other disposition of PTP interests under Section 1446(f) until regulations or other guidance under such section are issued. We believe that, consistent with the Committee Report, the broker through which PTP unit trades are executed should be responsible for withholding and information

-

The government may also wish to modify Rev. Rul. 99-6 to make clear that this treatment under Section 1446(f) overrides the ruling's general treatment of such a transaction as the acquisition of assets.

H.R. Rep. No. 115-466 at 369 ("the Secretary may provide guidance permitting a broker, as agent of the transferee, to deduct and withhold the tax equal to 10 percent of the amount realized on the disposition of a partnership interest to which the provision applies. For example, such guidance may provide that if an interest in a publicly traded partnership is sold by a foreign partner through a broker, the broker may deduct and withhold the 10-percent tax on behalf of the transferee").

reporting under Section 1446(f) to the extent withholding is required. However, in order to permit brokers to build systems to enable them to withhold and report under Section 1446(f) in an appropriate manner and without undue burden, any broker withholding and reporting with respect to publicly traded partnership interests should be required no earlier than the date that is one year following the date on which regulations under Section 1446(f) addressing the manner in which tax is to be withheld in connection with the transfer of PTP units are finalized.⁸⁵

Q. Manner for Depositing Withheld Tax and Filing Forms Relating to Withholding

Section 5 of the Notice provides that until regulations, other guidance, or forms and instructions have been issued under Section 1446(f), transferees required to withhold under that provision generally must use the rules in Section 1445 and the regulations thereunder for purposes of reporting and paying over the tax. Those provisions currently include the use of Form 8288 (U.S. Withholding Tax Return for Dispositions by Foreign Persons of U.S. Real Property Interests) and Form 8288-A (Statement of Withholding on Dispositions by Foreign Persons of U.S. Real Property Interests) – and the Notice directs the transferee to include the statement "Section 1446(f)(1) withholding" at the top of each such form.

We think that the interim approach set forth in the Notice (*i.e.*, to use the procedures set forth under Section 1445 and the regulations thereunder) generally is a workable starting point, and recommend that regulations memorialize that approach, subject to certain modifications. New forms should be released relating to Section 1446(f) withholding, corresponding to Form 8288 and Form 8288-A, with appropriate modifications that specifically contemplate that the transferred property is a partnership interest and that the underlying assets consist of USTB assets other than USRPIs.

Section 5 of the Notice also provides: "At this time, the IRS will not issue withholding certificates under section 1446(f)(3), such as those provided on Form 8288-B, Application for Withholding Certificate for Dispositions by Foreign Persons of U.S. Real Property Interests." It is not clear why a foreign partner's transfer of a partnership interest should not be eligible for a withholding certificate providing for a lower amount of withholding when a comparable transfer of a USRPI would be so eligible. As a result, we recommend that regulations specifically permit, and a new form comparable to Form 8288-B be released to facilitate, the issuance of withholding certificates enabling a lower amount of withholding under Section 1446(f).

R. Provision of Information by Partnerships to Partners

Upon a foreign partner's transfer of a partnership interest, in order to determine whether Section 864(c)(8) will apply to recharacterize a recognized gain or loss as ECI or ECL, the foreign partner will need to know (i) the amount of liabilities attributable under Section 752 to the transferred interest and (ii) the amount of ECI or ECL that the transferor would have recognized with respect to the transferred interest had all of the partnership's assets been sold for their fair market value. In the case of a non-controlling partner without contractual rights to such

See also SEC. INDUST. AND FIN. MKTS. ASS'N, Recommendations on Implementation of Section 1446(f) (Aug. 2, 2018) (addressing certain Section 1446(f) considerations in the case of PTPs).

_

information, the partner may not have sufficient information to file its return in the manner required by Section 864(c)(8). As a result, we recommend that regulations provide that upon request by a foreign selling partner, a partnership will be required to provide the information described above, and any other information reasonably needed by such partner in order to calculate the amount of ECI or ECL recognized by virtue of the application of Section 864(c)(8). We recognize that compelling a partnership to provide such information might impose a significant burden on the partnership by requiring it to make determinations, some of which may be very complicated, that it would otherwise not have to make. Nevertheless, we believe that the needs of the foreign selling partner to obtain such information, and the untenable position that such a partner could be in if the partnership did not provide the information, should outweigh the burden placed on the partnership in being required to comply with such an information request.

We have considered whether Treasury has the regulatory authority (without a specific legislative grant of authority) to promulgate regulations that would require the provision by a partnership of the information described above to a foreign selling partner. While the answer to this question is not entirely clear, we note that in the FIRPTA context a domestic corporation is *required* by the regulations under Section 897 to provide information to a requesting foreign shareholder with respect to the corporation's status as a USRPHC. Return Section 897 nor Section 1445 requires a corporation to provide such information, and neither contains a specific grant of regulatory authority that would permit such a requirement. Much like Section 864(c)(8) in the context of ECI or ECL, absent a requirement on the part of a domestic corporation to provide information with respect to its status as a USRPHC, a selling foreign shareholder would not be able to establish that the shares of the corporation were not a USRPI. As a result, there is some precedent for regulations to be issued, even in the absence of a specific grant of regulatory authority, to require the provision of information to a taxpayer by an entity, if in the absence of such requirement, the taxpayer would be unable to determine its tax liability.

We also note that the partnership's cooperation would be required in order for the transfer of a partnership interest to benefit from the 25% Gain Exception because the relevant certification must be provided by the partnership whose interest is transferred. In this regard, we believe it is less critical that the partnership cooperate in providing the relevant certification than it is that the partnership comply with respect to Section 864(c)(8), because any tax withheld would be credited against the tax liability of the foreign selling partner. Thus, so long as the partnership provides the information necessary for the foreign selling partner to determine how much ECI or ECL it recognized in connection with the sale, the partner should be able to obtain

⁸⁶ Treas. Reg. § 1.897-2(h).

We note that while Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) states that the taxpayer must establish that the domestic corporation is not a USRPHC "at such time and in such manner as the Secretary by regulations prescribes," this grant of authority relates to the requirement of the taxpayer to establish non-USRPHC status and not to the corporation whose shares are transferred to establish such status.

See Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) which, subject to certain exceptions, generally treats any interest (other than an interest solely as a creditor) in a domestic corporation as a USRPI unless the taxpayer establishes that such domestic corporation was not a USRPHC during the applicable period.

a refund of any over-withheld tax. As a result, we believe that the burden that would be borne by the partnership if it were required to provide a certification relating to the 25% Gain Exception outweighs the needs of the foreign selling partner and, therefore, do not recommend that a partnership be compelled to provide such a certification.

Where, however, a partnership does provide a certification that the 25% Gain Exception is applicable with respect to a particular transfer, it is unclear whether the partnership might be secondarily liable under Section 1446(f)(4) for any under-withholding if it were ultimately determined that the 25% Gain Exception was unavailable (*e.g.*, if the partnership's calculation of built-in gain relating to USTB assets was found to be understated). Under the Notice, no withholding is due if such a certification is received, apparently regardless of whether the certification is ultimately determined to be correct. Because no withholding is due, the partnership arguably should not be secondarily liable for any under-withholding. We recommend that regulations make clear that this is the case by providing that a partnership that provides a certification that the 25% Gain Exception applies to a partnership interest transfer will not be secondarily liable under Section 1446(f)(4) so long as it prepared such certification reasonably and in good faith. ⁸⁹

Because the requirement for a partnership to provide information to foreign selling partners may impose a significant burden on the partnership, we recommend that a partnership be permitted to use certain simplifying conventions. Specifically, for any calculations required to be made under Section 864(c)(8) or Section 1446(f) (including (i) whether the 25% Gain Exception applies, (ii) the amount of built-in ECI or ECL attributable to the transferor and (iii) the amount of liabilities attributable to the transferred interest), the partnership should be permitted to elect to perform such calculations as of the last day of its most recent taxable year. We recognize, however, that in certain cases, such as where the relevant facts have changed significantly between the end of the prior taxable year and the date of the relevant determination, use of such a simplifying convention might be distortive. As a result, we recommend that the use of such a simplifying convention be available only where the partnership reasonably determines that its use will not significantly affect any calculation to be made under the Provisions.

S. Section 1446(f) Definitions

Section 1446(f)(5) provides that any term used in Section 1446(f) which is also used in Section 1445 shall have the same meaning as when used in Section 1445. "Transferor," "transferee" and "foreign person" appear to be the only terms that are specifically defined for purposes of Section 1445 and are relevant for purposes of Section 1446(f). Section 1445(f) defines "transferor" as "the person disposing of the United States real property interest," "transferee" as "the person acquiring the United States real property interest," and "foreign person" as "any person other than a United States person, and except as otherwise provided by

Providing such a rule would prevent partnerships from being unwilling to provide such certifications, even where the exception should be applicable, for fear that they could be held liable if their determinations were ultimately determined to be incorrect.

the Secretary, an entity with respect to which section 897 does not apply by reason of subsection (1) thereof." Section 897(1) excludes qualified foreign pension funds ("OFPFs") from the application of Section 897, and thus a QFPF generally is not considered a foreign person for purposes of Section 1445.

The definitions of "transferor" and "transferee" provided in Section 1445 would appear to limit the application of Section 1446(f) to cases where the partnership whose interest is being transferred happens to hold a USRPI, in addition to non-USRPI USTB assets. It appears unlikely that this effect was intended. In Sections 3.02 and 3.03 of the Notice, "transferor" was defined as "any person that transfers a partnership interest, [including] a person that receives a distribution from a partnership," and "transferee" was defined as "any person that acquires a partnership interest by any sale, exchange or other disposition, [including] a partnership that makes a distribution." We recommend that the Secretary promulgate regulations adopting definitions similar to those provided in the Notice for transferor and transferee for purposes of Section 1446(f), taking into account our recommendation in Section O above dealing with Rev. Rul. 99-6 transactions. It is possible, however, that such definitions may be challenged as being inconsistent with the statutory language. 90

Similarly, defining "foreign person" for purposes of Section 1446(f) in accordance with Section 1445 results in a QFPF not being considered a foreign person for purposes of Section 1446(f). A QFPF could, therefore, theoretically avoid Section 1446(f) withholding by providing a valid nonforeign affidavit under Section 1446(f)(2). It is difficult to discern a policy reason for QFPFs to be exempt from Section 1446(f) withholding upon the disposition of an interest in a partnership that is engaged in a non-FIRPTA USTB. Compounding the policy issue, QFPFs are exempt from withholding tax in the FIRPTA context because they are exempt from the substantive FIRPTA tax. Treatment of a QFPF as a non-foreign person, however, would only exempt such QFPF from Section 1446(f) withholding; it would still be liable for substantive tax under Section 864(c)(8).

Section 1445(f)(3)(B) authorizes the Secretary to limit the situations in which a QFPF is not considered a "foreign person" for purposes of Section 1445 (and presumably, by extension, Section 1446(f)). We recommend that the Secretary promulgate regulations pursuant to this authority providing that a QFPF is considered a foreign person for purposes of Section 1446(f).

In this regard, it should be noted that the definitions of transferor and transferee in Section 1445(f) specify that a transferor disposes, and a transferee acquires, "the United States real property interest." Section 1446(f) does not refer to a USRPI, leaving an unspecified referent. An argument could therefore be made that Section 1446(f)(5) was not intended to apply the exact definitions of transferor and transferee in Section 1445(f) to Section 1446(f), but that it was intended to apply its definitions to Section 1446(f) with appropriate conforming changes, such as replacing "the United States real property interest" with "a partnership interest."

See Joint Committee on Taxation, General Explanation of Tax Legislation Enacted in 2015 at 155 (March 2016).

Ultimately, it would be helpful if Section 1446(f)(5) were stricken entirely in technical corrections, because it appears to apply explicitly to only three terms, and defines each of them incorrectly for purposes of Section 1446(f).

* * * *

We appreciate your consideration of our recommendations. If you have any questions or comments regarding this Report, please feel free to contact us and we will be glad to discuss or assist in any way.